# Pullback exponential attractor for a Cahn-Hilliard-Navier-Stokes system in 2D

# Stefano Bosia and Stefania Gatti

Communicated by James Robinson, received April 3, 2013.

ABSTRACT. We consider a model for the evolution of a mixture of two incompressible and partially immiscible Newtonian fluids in two dimensional bounded domain. More precisely, we address the well-known model H consisting of the Navier-Stokes equation with non-autonomous external forcing term for the (average) fluid velocity, coupled with a convective Cahn-Hilliard equation with polynomial double-well potential describing the evolution of the relative density of atoms of one of the fluids. We study the long term behavior of solutions and prove that the system possesses a pullback exponential attractor. In particular the regularity estimates we obtain depend on the initial data only through fixed powers of their norms and these powers are independent of the growth of the polynomial potential considered in the Cahn-Hilliard equation.

# Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. Functional setting and main results	4
3. Exponential pullback attractors	7
4. Existence results and basic energy estimate	10
5. Higher regularity estimates	14
6. Continuous dependence	23
7. Time regularity	30
8. Proof of the main results	32
Acknowledgements	37
References	37

 $<sup>1991\</sup> Mathematics\ Subject\ Classification.\ 35B41,\ 35B45,\ 35K25,\ 76T99.$ 

 $Key\ words\ and\ phrases.$  Cahn-Hilliard-Navier Stokes equation, Pullback exponential attractor, polynomial potential.

#### 1. Introduction

The modeling of multi-phase flows has been a field of intense mathematical research in the last years. In particular, its relevance for applications (see, e.g., [19, 20, 21, 24] and references therein) has motivated several different approaches, among which diffuse interface methods seem to combine both numerical efficiency and theoretical tractability. One of their instances is given by the so called model H, which was first proposed in [21] and [25] and then rigorously derived in [19]. In the corresponding system, the two-phase flow is described by a (mean) velocity field  $\mathbf{u}$ , which satisfies a Navier-Stokes type equation, and an order parameter field  $\psi$ , which represents the difference of the relative concentrations of the two fluids and which solves a convective Cahn-Hilliard equation. More precisely, given a bounded and smooth domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ , assuming that the viscosity of the mixture is a constant  $\nu > 0$ , the two-dimensional model H reads as

(1.1) 
$$\begin{cases} \partial_{t}\mathbf{u} + \mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{u} - \nu \Delta \mathbf{u} = \nabla p + \mu \nabla \psi + \mathbf{g}(t), & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \nabla \cdot \mathbf{u} = 0, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \partial_{t}\psi + (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla)\psi = m\Delta\mu, & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \mu = -\epsilon \Delta \psi + \frac{1}{\epsilon}f(\psi), & \text{in } \Omega, \end{cases}$$

where  $\mu$  is the so called chemical potential with constant mobility  $m \geqslant 0$ ,  $\mathbf{g}$  is a time-dependent bulk force, f is the derivative of a double-well potential F while  $p = \pi + \frac{\epsilon}{2} |\nabla \psi|^2 + \frac{1}{\epsilon} F(\psi)$  introduces the pressure  $\pi$  as well as the positive parameter  $\epsilon$  rendering the interaction between the two phases. In particular,  $\epsilon$  is related with the small but not negligible thickness of the interface.

This system is usually complemented by homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions on the velocity field, no flux boundary conditions on the order parameter field and chemical potential, namely,

(1.2) 
$$\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{0}, \quad \partial_{\mathbf{n}} \psi = 0, \quad \partial_{\mathbf{n}} \mu = 0, \quad \text{on } \partial \Omega.$$

Being the problem non-autonomous, we specify the initial values at a given time  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$  for the state variables, that is,

$$\mathbf{u}(\tau) = \mathbf{u}_0, \qquad \psi(\tau) = \psi_0, \qquad \text{in } \Omega.$$

We recall that, in this model, the chemical potential of the binary mixture  $\mu$  is given by the variational derivative of the free energy functional for the Cahn-Hilliard equation

$$\mathcal{F}(\psi) \doteq \int_{\Omega} \left( \frac{\epsilon}{2} |\nabla \psi|^2 + \eta F(\psi) \right) d\mathbf{x},$$

where  $F(\psi)$  is a suitable double-well potential characterizing the phase decomposition of the mixture. Since F' = f, the fourth equation in (1.1) follows.

The Cahn-Hilliard model for spinodal decomposition and coarsening during quenching of alloys was first proposed in [8]. In this setting a thermodynamically consistent double-well potential F is naturally seen to be logarithmic (see [7] and references therein). However, this singular form for the potential causes major difficulties in the numerical and theoretical study of the Cahn-Hilliard system so that in applications it is often replaced by a polynomial approximation like

$$F(\psi) = C(1 - \psi^2)^2$$
.

In this context, a possible approach to deal with the physically relevant case consists in suitably approximating the singular potential by polynomials of increasing order (see [14, 13] for an application of this technique to a system closely related to the model H). Our paper deals with a polynomial potential F of arbitrary order p+3, for  $p \ge 1$  (in fact, the lower order case is much easier).

From the mathematical viewpoint, system (1.1)-(1.2) has been firstly studied in [26] for  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^2$ . Then, in the case of bounded domains, global existence results for both weak and strong solutions in the 2D case were obtained in [5] (see also [6]). More recently, the case of logarithmic potentials has been considered in [2] (see also [1]), where, in particular, the convergence of solutions to a single equilibrium has been established in absence of nongradient external forces. This issue has also been investigated in [27] for smooth potentials. A rather complete picture of the longtime behavior in the case N=2 on a bounded domain can be found in [15]. In the case N=3, existence of trajectory attractors has been demonstrated in [16] with time-dependent external forces. Many related models have also been extensively studied in recent years. Among others we recall non-Newtonian Ladyzhenskaya fluids (see [18] for the 2D case and [3] for some partial results in the 3D case), non-local interactions (see [14, 13]) and chemically reacting mixtures (see [4] and references therein).

Concerning the mathematical theory of infinite dimensional dynamical systems, pullback exponential attractors represent a new instrument recently introduced in the literature (see [22]) as a modification on the results of [11], where nonautonomous exponential attractors were first introduced. The theory of pullback exponential attractors combines both the advantages of pullback attractors in the non-autonomous case (see [9] for a comprehensive introduction to the theory of pullback attractors) and of the exponential attractors in Banach spaces in their most general form known today (see [12] and [11]).

The main result of this paper is the existence of a pullback exponential attractor for the system (1.1)-(1.2). As a byproduct, we derive several regularity estimates for the solutions to the Cahn-Hilliard-Navier-Stokes system. These have an interest of their own due to their particular dependence on the growth of the double-well potential F. Indeed, if the potential  $f(\psi)$  is assumed to satisfy  $|f(\psi)| \leq C(|\psi|^{p+2} + 1)$ , we are able to control the solutions only by suitable powers of the norms of the initial data independent of p. This is not obvious since the computations repeatedly involve  $f(\psi)$  and its derivatives, which are naturally estimated as

$$|f(\psi)|_q \leqslant C(|\psi|_{\infty}^{p+2} + 1) \leqslant C(|\psi|_2^{\frac{p+2}{2}} |\Delta \psi|_2^{\frac{p+2}{2}} + 1),$$

carrying the polynomial character of F directly into play. This obstacle is circumvented by suitably handling the nonlinear terms so that the dependence on the growth of the potential is confined to the multiplicative constants appearing in our results.

Therefore, these estimates can be seen as a preliminary step forwards an effective approximating procedure able to deal with the more physically relevant case given by the singular potential.

The plan of the paper goes as follows. In Section 2 we introduce the functional setting required to study system (1.1) and the main results obtained in this work. After recalling the theory of pullback exponential attractors in Section 3, we first derive basic energy estimates (Section 4) and then higher order regularity estimates

(Section 5): in particular, our results are partly independent from the growth of F in the sense made precise above. We then derive continuity results and time regularity for solutions in Sections 6 and 7. Finally, in Section 8 we are able to check all the assumptions of the abstract results of Section 3 in the case of system (1.1), concluding the proof of our main theorem.

#### 2. Functional setting and main results

We will denote by  $\Omega$  a smooth bounded domain of  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . The spaces  $L^p(\Omega)$  will be the usual Banach spaces of p-integrable functions with  $p \in [1, \infty]$ . The Sobolev-Hilbert space, which consists of k-differentiable functions in the sense of distributions with square integrable derivatives, will be denoted by  $H^k(\Omega)$ . We shall use the bold symbols  $\mathbf{L}^p(\Omega)$  and  $\mathbf{H}^k(\Omega)$  for the corresponding spaces of vector valued functions. The space of functions belonging to  $H^k(\Omega)$  and vanishing on the boundary will be denoted by  $H^k_0(\Omega)$ . Norms in the Sobolev spaces  $H^k(\Omega)$  will be denoted by  $\|\cdot\|_{H^k}$ , whereas we will use the shorthand notation  $\|\cdot\|_p$  for the norm in  $L^p(\Omega)$  spaces,  $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ . In order to study the velocity field  $\mathbf{u}$  we introduce the usual framework of divergence-free distributions, i.e.,

$$\mathcal{V} \doteq \{ \phi \in \mathbf{C}_c^{\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^2) \mid \nabla \cdot \phi = 0 \}.$$

Then we consider its closure under suitable distributional norms

$$\mathbf{L}^2_{\mathrm{div}}(\Omega) \doteq \overline{\mathcal{V}}^{\mathbf{L}^2(\Omega)}, \quad \mathbf{H}^1_{0,\mathrm{div}}(\Omega) \doteq \overline{\mathcal{V}}^{\mathbf{H}^1_0(\Omega)}.$$

We also introduce the Leray projector  $\mathbb{P} \colon \mathbf{L}^2(\Omega) \to \mathbf{L}^2_{\mathrm{div}}(\Omega)$  mapping every element of  $\mathbf{L}^2(\Omega)$  to its divergence-free part. Furthermore, we will indicate by  $\mathbf{H}^{-1}_{\mathrm{div}}(\Omega)$  the dual space of  $\mathbf{H}^1_{0,\mathrm{div}}(\Omega)$ . In  $H^1_0(\Omega)$  and  $\mathbf{H}^1_{0,\mathrm{div}}(\Omega)$  we will consider the following norms

$$||f||_{H^1_0(\Omega)}^2 \doteq |\nabla f|_2^2 = \sum_{i=1}^n \int_{\Omega} |f_{,i}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} \qquad ||\mathbf{f}||_{\mathbf{H}^1_{0,\mathrm{div}}(\Omega)}^2 \doteq |\nabla \mathbf{f}|_2^2 = \sum_{i,j=1}^n \int_{\Omega} |\mathbf{f}_{i,j}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}.$$

Finally, we will denote by  $\langle f, g \rangle$  both the scalar product in  $L^2(\Omega)$  (or  $\mathbf{L}^2(\Omega)$ ) and the duality pairing between  $H^{-1}(\Omega)$  and  $H^1_0(\Omega)$  (or their vector valued analogues), the exact meaning being clear from the context.

Since the second equation in (1.1) together with the boundary condition imply that the bulk integral of the order parameter is preserved by the evolution, we need to suitably account for this feature. First of all we define the mean value of f over the domain  $\Omega$  as

$$\langle f \rangle \doteq \frac{1}{|\Omega|} \int_{\Omega} f \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x},$$

denoting by  $\overline{f}$  the mean free part of f, that is,

$$\overline{f} \doteq f - \langle f \rangle$$
.

Thus, up to a shift of the order parameter field, we can always assume that the mean of  $\psi$  is zero at the initial time and, due to the conservation of mass enforced by the Neumann boundary conditions, this will remain true for all positive times. Then the order parameter will belong to subspaces of  $L^p(\Omega)$  and  $H^k(\Omega)$  consisting of functions with zero mean, defined as

$$L^p_{(0)}(\Omega) \doteq \{v \in L^p(\Omega) \mid \langle v \rangle = 0\}, \quad H^k_{(c0)}(\Omega) \doteq \{v \in H^k(\Omega) \mid \langle v \rangle = 0\}.$$

Here we can use Poincaré's inequality (and some of its variants) at several stages when estimating the Sobolev norms of  $\psi$ . Indeed, the boundary conditions and the above definitions imply that

$$\int_{\Omega} \psi = 0, \quad \partial_{\mathbf{n}} \psi = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega, \quad \int_{\Omega} \Delta \psi = \int_{\partial \Omega} \partial_{\mathbf{n}} \psi = 0, \quad \partial_{\mathbf{n}} \Delta \psi = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega.$$

Therefore, all the norms  $\|\psi\|_{H^j}$ ,  $j=1,\ldots,4$  are equivalent to the  $L^2$ -norms of the derivatives of order j. Moreover, Korn's inequality holds. Thus we have

$$\|\psi\|_{H^1} \sim |\nabla \psi|_2$$
,  $\|\psi\|_{H^2} \sim |\Delta \psi|_2$ ,  $\|\psi\|_{H^3} \sim |\nabla \Delta \psi|_2$ ,  $\|\psi\|_{H^4} \sim |\Delta^2 \psi|_2$ .

Finally, the functional spaces for the whole solution  $(\mathbf{u}, \psi)$  are

$$\mathcal{H}_0 \doteq \mathbf{L}^2_{\mathrm{div}}(\Omega) \times H^1_{(c0)}(\Omega) \qquad \mathcal{H}_1 \doteq \mathbf{H}^1_{0,\mathrm{div}}(\Omega) \times H^2_{(c0)}(\Omega),$$

which arise naturally in the study of the process generated by the solution of system (1.1).

We can now list the assumptions on the potential  $F(\psi)$ , starting with some hypotheses concerning its regularity and growth:

- (A.1)  $F \in \mathbf{C}^5(\mathbb{R})$ .
- (A.2) F(y) grows at most polynomially fast at infinity, namely

$$|f''(y)| \leq C_f (1+|y|^p),$$

for some positive constants p and  $C_f$ .

(A.3) The potential is coercive, i.e. there exist positive real numbers q and  $c_f$  such that

$$(2.1) F(y) \geqslant c_f \left( |y|^{2+q} - 1 \right)$$

holds for all  $y \in \mathbb{R}$ .

Recalling that the potential F appears in system (1.1) only through its derivative, without loss of generality we can further assume that

(A.4) the functional F is strictly positive, i.e.  $F(y) > 0, \forall y \in \mathbb{R}$ .

We now give some additional assumptions concerning the shape of the double-well potential F.

(A.5) F(y) is a quadratic perturbation of a regular convex function defined on the whole  $\mathbb{R}$ , that is,

$$F(y) = F_0(y) - \alpha y^2 + \gamma y + \beta.$$

where  $F_0 \in \mathbf{C}^5(\mathbb{R})$  is convex and  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$  is a positive constant.

(A.6) Up to a suitable choice of the constants  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  in Assumption (A.5), the convex part of the potential  $F_0$  satisfies:

$$F_0(0) = F_0'(0) = 0.$$

In order to obtain higher order estimates having the particular dependence on the growth of f mentioned in the introduction, we will assume that F behaves as a polynomial at infinity. In particular we will suppose

(A.7) The relation q = p + 1 holds in Assumptions (A.2) and (A.3). Moreover, for any k = 0, 1, 2, 3, 4 there exists a positive constant  $c_k$  such that

$$(2.2) |f^{(k)}(y)| \leq c_k [1 + F(y)^{\frac{p+2-k}{p+3}}], \quad \forall y \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Remark 2.1. In the following Assumption (A.7) will be necessary in order to estimate the  $L^r$  norm of the derivatives of the potential F in terms of some  $L^s$  norm of the potential itself. In particular, when dealing with higher order estimates we will often use the immediate consequence of Assumption (A.7)

$$|f^{(k)}(\psi)|_{\frac{p+3}{\frac{p+3}{n+2-k}}}^{\frac{p+3}{p+2-k}} \leqslant C(1+|F(\psi)|_1),$$

for any  $\psi$  such that  $F(\psi) \in L^1(\Omega)$  and for some constant C depending on k and  $\Omega$ .

Remark 2.2. Throughout the paper, we will always assume that  $p \ge 2$ , being much easier the case when the potential F(y) grows at most as  $y^5$  at infinity. In particular, all estimates in the following sections hold for  $p \ge 1$ , except for (6.6) below. However, note that a suitable estimate for this term can be produced also in the case  $p \in [1, 2)$  (cf. Remark 6.3) under the assumption

$$f^{(4)}(y) \leqslant C \qquad \forall y \in \mathbb{R}.$$

The case p = 1 is particularly relevant for applications since the polynomial potential  $F(y) = (y^2 - 1)^2$ , which is often used in numerical simulations, falls in this setting.

REMARK 2.3. The task of deducing estimates independent of p has many practical consequences. Indeed, in the case uniform estimates w.r.t. p were proven, by also considering the constant  $c_k$  in (2.2) independent of p, all the results in this paper would also hold for exponentially fast growing potentials. Indeed, these can be approximated away from zero as

$$F(\psi) \approx \sum_{i=1}^{p+3} \frac{\psi^i}{i!}.$$

Finally, we assume that the non-autonomous forcing term (symbol) **g** appearing in equation (1.1) satisfies the following conditions:

- (B.1)  $\mathbf{g} \in L^2_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}; \mathbf{L}^2_{\text{div}}(\Omega)).$ (B.2)  $\mathbf{g} \in L^2_{\text{uloc}}(-\infty, t; \mathbf{L}^2_{\text{div}}(\Omega)), \text{ for any } t \in \mathbb{R}, \text{ that is,}$

$$M_{\mathbf{g}}(t) \doteq \sup_{r \leq t} \int_{r-1}^{r} |\mathbf{g}(s)|_{2}^{2} ds < \infty, \quad \forall t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

(B.3) There exist  $t_0 \in \mathbb{R}$  and q > 2 such that  $\mathbf{g} \in L^q_{\text{uloc}}(-\infty, t_0; \mathbf{L}^2_{\text{div}}(\Omega))$ , namely,

$$M_{\mathbf{g},q}(t_0) \doteq \sup_{r \leq t_0} \int_{r-1}^r |\mathbf{g}(s)|_2^q \, \mathrm{d}s < \infty.$$

In this paper we will prove the following main results:

THEOREM 2.4. Assume that **g** satisfies (B.1) and (B.3) and let  $U_{\mathbf{g}}(t,\tau) \colon \mathcal{H}_0 \to$  $\mathcal{H}_0$  be the solution operator for the system (1.1). Then there exists a family  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{U_{\mathbf{g}}} =$  $\{\mathcal{M}_{U_{\mathbf{g}}}(t): t \leq t_0\}$  of nonempty compact subsets of  $\mathcal{H}_1$ , which is a pullback exponential attractor for system (1.1) (see Theorem 3.3 below) in the topology of  $\mathcal{H}_1$ .

COROLLARY 2.5. Under the same assumptions of Theorem 2.4, if, moreover, g satisfies (B.3) uniformly for  $t_0 \in \mathbb{R}$  (as in (B.2)), then the process  $U_{\mathbf{g}}(t,\tau) \colon \mathcal{H}_1 \to \mathbb{R}$  $\mathcal{H}_1$  has a family  $\mathcal{M}_{U_{\mathbf{g}}} = \{\mathcal{M}_{U_{\mathbf{g}}}(t) \colon t \in \mathbb{R}\}$  of nonempty compact subsets of  $\mathcal{H}_1$ , which is a pullback exponential attractor for system (1.1) (see Theorem 3.4 below) in the topology of  $\mathcal{H}_1$ .

## 3. Exponential pullback attractors

In this section we briefly review the theory of exponential pullback attractors as developed in [22]. Below,  $(H, |\cdot|)$  and  $(V, ||\cdot|)$  will be two Banach spaces such that V is compactly embedded in H. Both spaces have a metric structure, therefore, given any two nonempty subsets  $D_1$ ,  $D_2$  of the metric spaces X = H, V, the Hausdorff semidistance and distance are well defined respectively as

$$\operatorname{dist}_X(D_1, D_2) \doteq \sup_{v_1 \in D_1} \inf_{v_2 \in D_2} \|v_1 - v_2\|_X$$

and

$$\operatorname{dist}_{X}^{\operatorname{sym}}(D_{1}, D_{2}) \doteq \max\{\operatorname{dist}_{X}(D_{1}, D_{2}), \operatorname{dist}_{X}(D_{2}, D_{1})\}.$$

As in the usual case of exponential attractors [12] the key point of the argument is the introduction of a set of mappings which enjoy a suitable "smoothing property". This is responsible for the exponential convergence of the trajectories of the system to an exponentially attracting finite-dimensional compact set (an exponential attractor) as soon as the trajectories have entered a sufficiently small neighbourhood of the attractor itself. Let  $\delta, K \in \mathbb{R}$  be positive constants and let B be a bounded and closed subset of V. Define  $\mathbb{S}_{\delta,K}(B)$  to be the class of mappings  $S: V \to V$  such that the smoothing property holds on a  $\delta$ -neighbourhood (in V) of B, i.e.

$$S(\mathcal{O}_{\delta}(B)) \subset B$$

and

$$||Sv_1 - Sv_2|| \le K|v_1 - v_2|$$
 for all  $v_1, v_2 \in \mathcal{O}_{\delta}(B)$ ,

where  $\mathcal{O}_{\delta}(B) \doteq \{v \in V \mid \inf_{w \in B} \|v - w\| < \delta\}$  is a  $\delta$ -neighbourhood of the set B in V.

We introduce a suitable class of mathematical objects, which are the abstract, discrete-time, dynamical system representation of the evolution equations we will be interested in. In particular, let  $n_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$  be fixed and consider the class  $\mathcal{U}_d(V, n_0)$  of all families  $U = \{U(m, n) \mid n, m \in \mathbb{Z}, n \leq m \leq n_0\}$  of mappings  $U(m, n) : V \to V$  such that

- (1) U(n,n) = Id for all  $n \leq n_0$ ;
- (2) U(m,k)U(k,n) = U(m,n) for any  $n \leq k \leq m \leq n_0$ .

When dealing with pullback attractors, only the evolution of the system up to the "present" time  $n_0$  is of interest. The key question is how perturbations of the system in the past affect the present dynamic and what actually is the state of the system observed. This is the reason why elements belonging to the class  $\mathcal{U}_d(V, n_0)$  are defined up to time  $n_0$  and not necessarily beyond.

We can say that element of the discrete time class  $\mathcal{U}_d(V, \tau_0)$  possess a discrete time pullback exponential attractor in the sense made precise by the following theorem, (see also [11, Theorem 3.1]) for a closely related result.

THEOREM 3.1 ([22, Theorem 2.1]). Let  $n_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\delta > 0$ , K > 0 and  $B \subset V$  be fixed with B bounded and closed in V. Then, there exist positive constants  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$ ,  $\overline{\epsilon}$  and  $\alpha$  only depending on V, H,  $\delta$ , K and B, such that, for each  $U \in \mathcal{U}_d(V, n_0)$  satisfying

$$U(n, n-1) \in \mathbb{S}_{\delta,K}(B)$$
 for all  $n \leqslant n_0$ ,

there exists a family  $\mathcal{M}_U = \{\mathcal{M}_U(n) \mid n \leqslant n_0\}$ , of nonempty subsets of V, which satisfies

a)  $\mathcal{M}_U$  is positively invariant i.e.

$$U(m,n)\mathcal{M}_U(n)\subset\mathcal{M}_U(m)$$
 for all  $n\leqslant m\leqslant n_0$ .

b)  $\mathcal{M}_U(n) \subset B$  is a compact subset of V, with finite fractal dimension estimated by

$$\log_2 N_{\epsilon}(\mathcal{M}_U(n), V) \leqslant C_1 \log_2 \frac{1}{\epsilon} + C_2$$
 for all  $0 < \epsilon < \overline{\epsilon}$  and any  $n \leqslant n_0$ ,

where  $N_{\epsilon}(\mathcal{M}_{U}(n), V)$  is the minimal number of  $\epsilon$ -balls in V, which are necessary to cover  $\mathcal{M}_{U}(n)$ ,

c)  $\mathcal{M}_U$  attracts B exponentially in a pullback sense i.e.

$$\operatorname{dist}_V(U(m,n)B,\mathcal{M}_U(m)) \leqslant C_1 e^{-\alpha(m-n)}$$
 for all  $n \leqslant m \leqslant n_0$ ,

d) for every integer  $k \leq 0$ 

$$\mathcal{M}_{U}(n+k) = \mathcal{M}_{T_{*}U}(n)$$
 for all  $n \leq n_{0}$ ,

where 
$$T_k U(m, n) \doteq U(m + k, n + k)$$
.

Remark 3.2. The results in [22] also include robustness of a discrete-time exponential pullback attractor w.r.t. to a suitable metric in the space of discrete time processes. For simplicity we do not mention all the pertinent details here. However, we recall that this result is important in deducing the analogue continuous-time theory and, in particular, in obtaining continuity in time of an exponential pullback attractor.

Having in mind the more relevant continuous-time setting, we now introduce a suitable analogue of the class  $\mathcal{U}_d(V, n_0)$ . Let  $t_0 \in \mathbb{R}$  be any time, and consider the class  $\mathcal{U}(V, t_0)$  of all families  $U = \{U(t, s) \mid s, t \in \mathbb{R}, s \leqslant t \leqslant t_0\}$  of mappings  $U(t, s) \colon V \to V$  such that

- (1) U(s,s) = Id for all  $s \leq t_0$ ;
- (2) U(t,r)U(r,s) = U(t,s) for any  $s \leq r \leq t \leq t_0$ .

In this setting, a natural way to introduce a smoothing property is to consider only those families  $U \in \mathcal{U}(V, t_0)$  such that there exists a positive time span  $\tau_0$  for which

$$(3.1) U(t, t - \tau_0) \in \mathbb{S}_{\delta, K}(B)$$

holds for all  $t \leq t_0$ . Thanks to Theorem 3.1, for any  $t \leq t_0$  the family  $U^t \in \mathcal{U}_d(V, 0)$  given by

$$U^{t}(m,n) \doteq U(t+m\tau_{0},t+n\tau_{0})$$
 for all  $n \leqslant m \leqslant 0$ 

possesses a discrete time exponential pullback attractor.

In order to obtain a satisfactory dynamical description of the system also in the continuous-time case, we will need some additional assumptions on the time regularity and continuous dependence of the family  $U \in \mathcal{U}(V, t_0)$ . In particular we will assume

(H.1) Continuity w.r.t. the forcing terms: there exist real positive constants  $C_0$ ,  $\epsilon_0$  and  $\gamma$  such that  $\epsilon_0 \leqslant \tau_0$  and that for all  $t \leqslant t_0$ ,  $\tau_0 \leqslant r \leqslant 2\tau_0$ ,  $0 \leqslant s \leqslant \epsilon_0$  and  $v \in \mathcal{O}_{\delta}(B)$ 

$$||U(t, t-r)v - U(t-s, t-r-s)v|| \le C_0|s|^{\gamma}.$$

(H.2) Past continuous dependence on initial data: there exists a positive constant  $C_B$  such that

$$||U(t, t - s)v - U(t, t - s)w|| \le C_B ||v - w||$$

for all  $v, w \in B$  and any  $t \leq t_0, 0 \leq s \leq 2\tau_0$ .

(H.3) Time continuity of solutions: there exist positive constants  $C_0'$  and  $\gamma'$  such that for all  $t \leqslant t_0$ ,  $\tau_0 \leqslant r \leqslant 2\tau_0$ ,  $0 \leqslant s \leqslant \epsilon_0$  and  $v \in B$ 

$$||U(t,t-r)v - U(t-s,t-r)v|| \le C_0' |s|^{\gamma'}.$$

We can now state the main result on exponential pullback attractors

THEOREM 3.3 ([22, Theorem 2.2]). If  $U \in \mathcal{U}(V, t_0)$  satisfies (3.1) and Assumption (H.2), with  $B \subset V$  bounded and closed in V, then the family  $\mathcal{M}_U = \{\mathcal{M}_U(t) \mid t \leq t_0\}$ , defined by

$$\mathcal{M}_{U}(t) \doteq \bigcup_{s \in [0, \tau_0]} U(t, t - s - \tau_0) \mathcal{M}_{U^{t-s-\tau_0}}(0) \quad \text{for all } t \leqslant t_0,$$

satisfies

- a)  $U(t,\tau)\mathcal{M}_U(\tau) \subset \mathcal{M}_U(t)$  for all  $\tau \leqslant t \leqslant t_0$ ,
- b)  $\mathcal{M}_{T_{-\tau}U}(t) = \mathcal{M}_U(t-\tau)$  for all  $\tau \geqslant 0$  and any  $t \leqslant t_0$ , where  $T_{-\tau}U(t,s) \doteq U(t-\tau,s-\tau)$ ,
- c) for all  $\tau \ge 0$  and any  $t \le t_0$

$$\operatorname{dist}_{V}(U(t, t - \tau)B, \mathcal{M}_{U}(t)) \leq Ce^{-\tilde{\alpha}\tau},$$

d) if, for any  $D \subset V$  bounded, there exists a time  $s_D \geqslant 0$  such that

$$U(t, t - s_D)D \subset B$$
 for all  $t \leq t_0$ 

then

- (3.2)  $\operatorname{dist}_{V}(U(t, t-\tau)D, \mathcal{M}_{U}(t)) \leqslant Ce^{\tilde{\alpha}s_{D}}e^{-\tilde{\alpha}\tau}$  for all  $\tau \geqslant s_{D}$  and any  $t \leqslant t_{0}$ .
- If, moreover, U also satisfies Assumptions (H.1) and (H.3), then
- e)  $\mathcal{M}_U(t)$  is a compact subset of V, with finite fractal dimension, for all  $t \leq t_0$ ,
- f) for all  $0 \le r \le \epsilon_0$  and any  $t \le t_0$ ,

$$\operatorname{dist}_{V}^{\operatorname{sym}}(\mathcal{M}_{U}(t), \mathcal{M}_{U}(t-r)) \leqslant C|r|^{\tilde{\gamma}}.$$

Finally consider the case of processes on V. Let U be a family  $U = \{U(t,s) \mid s,t \in \mathbb{R}, s \leq t\}$  of mappings  $U(t,s) \colon V \to V$  such that

- (1) U(s,s) = Id for all  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ ;
- (2) U(t,r)U(r,s) = U(t,s) for any  $s \le r \le t$ .

This corresponds to a dynamical system defined not only up to the present time  $t_0$ , but also for positive times. Considering processes corresponds to investigating what the eventual fate of the system under scrutiny will be. Therefore, it is interesting to investigate the relation between this eventual fate and the present state of the system, which is itself, in a way of speaking, the outcome of an arbitrary long evolution.

We will need the following additional assumption, which is a slight modification of (H.2)

(H.4) Future continuous dependence on initial data: for any  $t > t_0$  and  $D_1$ ,  $D_2$  bounded subsets of V, there exists a positive constant  $L(t, D_1, D_2)$  such that

$$||U(t,t_0)v - U(t,t_0)w|| \le L(t,D_1,D_2)||v-w||$$
 for all  $v \in D_1$ ,  $w \in D_2$ .

THEOREM 3.4 ([22, Theorem 2.3]). Assume that U is a process on V and, for some  $t_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ , the subfamily of U given by the operators U(t,s) when  $s \leqslant t \leqslant t_0$  satisfies (3.1) and Assumption (H.2), with  $B \subset V$  bounded and closed in V. Under these assumptions, the family  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_U = \{\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_U(t) \mid t \in \mathbb{R}\}$  defined by

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{U}(t) = \begin{cases} \mathcal{M}_{U}(t) & \text{if } t \leq t_{0}, \\ U(t, t_{0}) \mathcal{M}_{U}(t_{0}) & \text{if } t > t_{0}, \end{cases}$$

where  $\mathcal{M}_U$  is the family given in Theorem 3.3, satisfies:

- a)  $U(t,\tau)\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_U(\tau) \subset \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_U(t)$ , for all  $\tau \leqslant t$ ,
- b)  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{T-\tau U}(t) = \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_U(t-\tau)$  for all  $\tau \geqslant 0$  and any  $t \leqslant t_0$  and

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{T-\tau U}(t) \subset \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{U}(t-\tau)$$
 for all  $\tau \geqslant 0$  and any  $t > t_0$ ,

where 
$$T_{-\tau}U(t,s) \doteq U(t-\tau,s-\tau)$$
.

If in addition (H.4) holds, then

c) if, for any  $D \subset V$  bounded, there exists a positive time  $s_D$  such that

$$U(t, t - s)D \subset B$$
 for all  $s \geqslant s_D$  and any  $t \leqslant t_0$ ,

then  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_U$  satisfies (3.2) for all  $t \leq t_0$  and

$$\operatorname{dist}_{V}(U(t, t - \tau)D, \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{U}(t)) \leqslant \widetilde{L}(t, B, \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{U}(t_{0}))e^{\widetilde{\alpha}(s_{D} + t - t_{0})}e^{-\widetilde{\alpha}\tau}$$

for all  $t > t_0$  and any  $\tau \geqslant s_D + t - t_0$ .

Moreover, if U also satisfies Assumptions (H.1) and (H.3), then

- d)  $\mathcal{M}_U(t)$  is a compact subset of V with finite fractal dimension for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ ,
- e) for all  $0 \leqslant r \leqslant \epsilon_0$  and any  $t \leqslant t_0$

$$\operatorname{dist}_{V}^{\operatorname{sym}}(\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{U}(t),\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{U}(t-r)) \leqslant C|r|^{\tilde{\gamma}}.$$

Remark 3.5. We recall that in [22] also explicit estimates on a fractal dimension of the pullback exponential attractor have been derived. For the sake of simplicity, we neglect them here.

# 4. Existence results and basic energy estimate

In this section we recall some basic energy estimates, which are obtained naturally when proving existence of solution to system (1.1). First of all, for the sake of simplicity, we set  $\epsilon = m = 1$  and we write the definition of weak solution to system (1.1).

DEFINITION 4.1. Let  $\mathbf{z}_0 \doteq (\mathbf{u}_0, \psi_0) \in \mathbf{L}^2_{\mathrm{div}}(\Omega) \times H^1_{(c0)}(\Omega)$  and let  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then a couple  $\mathbf{z} = (\mathbf{u}, \psi)$  such that

$$\mathbf{u} \in L^{2}(\tau, T; \mathbf{H}_{0, \text{div}}^{1}(\Omega)) \cap H^{1}(\tau, T; \mathbf{H}_{\text{div}}^{-1}(\Omega))$$
$$\psi \in L^{2}(\tau, T; H^{3}(\Omega)) \cap H^{1}(\tau, T; H^{-1}(\Omega))$$

is called a weak solution to (1.1) if

$$\langle \partial_t \mathbf{u}(t), \mathbf{v} \rangle + \langle (\mathbf{u}(t) \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u}(t), \mathbf{v} \rangle + \langle \nu \nabla \mathbf{u}(t), \nabla \mathbf{v} \rangle = \langle \mu(t) \nabla \psi(t), \mathbf{v} \rangle$$
$$\langle \partial_t \psi(t), \phi \rangle + \langle \mathbf{u}(t) \cdot \nabla \psi(t), \phi \rangle = -\langle \nabla \mu(t), \nabla \phi \rangle$$

hold for a.e.  $t \in [\tau, T]$ , for all  $\mathbf{v} \in \mathcal{V}$  and for all  $\phi$  in  $\mathbf{C}^{\infty}(\Omega)$ , if

$$\mu(t) = f(\psi(t)) - \Delta\psi(t)$$

holds for a.e.  $t \in [\tau, T]$  in  $H^1(\Omega)$  with  $\mu \in L^2(\tau, T; H^1(\Omega))$  and if

$$\lim_{t \to \tau^+} \mathbf{u}(t) = \mathbf{u}_0 \quad \text{in } \mathbf{L}^2_{\text{div}}(\Omega), \qquad \lim_{t \to \tau^+} \psi(t) = \psi_0 \quad \text{in } H^1_{(c0)}(\Omega).$$

The well-posedness for problem (1.1)-(1.2) is justified in a suitable Galerkin scheme, thanks to the following a priori estimates and the subsequent Lemma 6.1(see e.g.  $[\mathbf{5}, \mathbf{15}]$ ).

THEOREM 4.2. Let assumptions (A.1)-(A.6) hold. If  $\mathbf{g}$  satisfies (B.1) and  $\mathbf{z}_0 \doteq (\mathbf{u}_0, \psi_0) \in \mathcal{H}_0$ , then there exists a unique weak solution  $\mathbf{z}(t) = (\mathbf{u}(t), \psi(t))$  departing at time  $\tau$  from the initial datum  $\mathbf{z}_0$ .

We now obtain the first basic energy estimates that will be the basis for the estimates of the following sections.

LEMMA 4.3. If **g** satisfies (B.1) and  $\mathbf{z}(t) = (\mathbf{u}(t), \psi(t))$  is the solution departing at time  $\tau$  from the initial datum  $\mathbf{z}_0 \doteq (\mathbf{u}_0, \psi_0) \in \mathcal{H}_0$ , then, denoting by  $\mu(t)$  the corresponding chemical potential, there holds

$$(4.1) \quad |\mathbf{u}(t)|_{2}^{2} + |\nabla \psi(t)|_{2}^{2} + 2|F(\psi(t))|_{1} + \int_{\tau}^{t} \left[\nu \|\mathbf{u}(s)\|_{\mathbf{H}_{0,\operatorname{div}}(\Omega)}^{2} + |\nabla \mu(s)|_{2}^{2}\right] ds$$

$$\leq |\mathbf{u}_{0}|_{2}^{2} + |\nabla \psi_{0}|_{2}^{2} + 2|F(\psi_{0})|_{1} + C \int_{\tau}^{t} |\mathbf{g}(s)|_{2}^{2} ds.$$

Besides, there holds

(4.2) 
$$\int_{\tau}^{t} |\nabla \psi(s)|_{2}^{2} ds + \int_{\tau}^{t} |F(\psi(s))|_{1} ds + \int_{\tau}^{t} |\Delta \psi(s)|_{2}^{2} ds$$

$$\leq C \left( |\mathbf{u}_{0}|_{2}^{2} + |\nabla \psi_{0}|_{2}^{2} + 2|F(\psi_{0})|_{1} + \int_{\tau}^{t} |\mathbf{g}(s)|_{2}^{2} ds \right) + C(t - \tau)$$

as well as

(4.3) 
$$\int_{\tau}^{t} |\Delta \psi(s)|_{2}^{4} ds$$

$$\leqslant C \left( |\mathbf{u}_{0}|_{2}^{2} + |\nabla \psi_{0}|_{2}^{2} + 2|F(\psi_{0})|_{1} + \int_{\tau}^{t} |\mathbf{g}(s)|_{2}^{2} ds \right)^{2} + C(t - \tau) \left( |\mathbf{u}_{0}|_{2}^{2} + |\nabla \psi_{0}|_{2}^{2} + 2|F(\psi_{0})|_{1} + \int_{\tau}^{t} |\mathbf{g}(s)|_{2}^{2} ds \right).$$

PROOF. In order to obtain our first (dissipative) a priori estimate, we multiply the first equation in (1.1) by  $\mathbf{u}$  and the third by  $\mu$ . Recalling the antisymmetric property of the convective term in the Navier Stokes equation and exploiting the

useful vector identity

$$\langle \partial_t \psi, \mu \rangle = -\langle \partial_t \psi, \Delta \psi \rangle + \langle f(\psi), \partial_t \psi \rangle$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} |\nabla \psi|_2^2 + \langle f(\psi), \partial_t \psi \rangle$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left( |\nabla \psi|_2^2 + 2|F(\psi)|_1 \right),$$

we obtain

(4.4) 
$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left( |\mathbf{u}|_2^2 + |\nabla \psi|_2^2 + 2|F(\psi)|_1 \right) + \nu |\nabla \mathbf{u}|_2^2 + |\nabla \mu|_2^2 = \langle \mathbf{g}, \mathbf{u} \rangle.$$

Recalling Poincaré inequality for  $\mathbf{u}$  and integrating this formula with respect to time, we deduce (4.1).

We now have to "complete the norms" on the left hand side of (4.4). From the definition of the chemical potential  $\mu$  (i.e. from the fourth equation in (1.1)) we have

$$\langle \mu, \psi \rangle = |\nabla \psi|_2^2 + \langle \psi, f(\psi) \rangle$$
.

Since, by assumption,  $\psi$  is mean free, we also deduce

$$\langle \mu, \psi \rangle = \langle \mu - \langle \mu \rangle, \psi \rangle \leqslant \frac{1}{2} |\nabla \mu|_2^2 + C|\psi|_2^2,$$

where C is a constant, which only depends on the domain  $\Omega$ . From assumption (A.5) on the potential F we further deduce

$$\langle f(\psi), \psi \rangle = \langle f_0(\psi), \psi \rangle - 2\alpha |\psi|_2^2$$

where  $f_0 = F'_0$ . Taking into account the convexity of  $F_0$  we can also bound the right hand side of this identity from below:

$$\langle f_0(\psi), \psi \rangle \ge |F_0(\psi) - F_0(0)|_1.$$

Putting the last four estimates together and recalling Assumption (A.6), we obtain

$$|\nabla \mu|_{2}^{2} + C|\psi|_{2}^{2}$$
  

$$\geq |\nabla \psi|_{2}^{2} + |F_{0}(\psi) - F_{0}(0)|_{1} - 2\alpha|\psi|_{2}^{2}$$
  

$$= |\nabla \psi|_{2}^{2} + |F(\psi)|_{1} - \alpha|\psi|_{2}^{2}.$$

Therefore we get

$$|\nabla \psi|_2^2 + |F(\psi)|_1 \le |\nabla \mu|_2^2 + C|\psi|_2^2 \le |\nabla \mu|_2^2 + \delta|\psi|_{2+q}^{2+q} + C,$$

where q is a positive real number,  $\delta$  is a (small) positive constant, which will be determined later, and C is a positive constant, which depends only on the domain  $\Omega$  and is independent of the exponent q as soon as  $q \geqslant \overline{q} > 0$ .

Remark 4.4. We observe that under assumption (A.7) we immediately have  $q \ge 2$  so that in our case the constant C really depends only on  $\Omega$ .

By adding this last estimate and (4.4) together, choosing  $\delta$  small enough, we finally deduce the basic energy estimate for system (1.1)-(1.2)

(4.5) 
$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left( |\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2} + |\nabla\psi|_{2}^{2} + 2|F(\psi)|_{1} \right) + C \left( |\nabla\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2} + |\nabla\psi|_{2}^{2} + 2|F(\psi)|_{1} + |\nabla\mu|_{2}^{2} \right)$$

$$\leq C \left( 1 + |\mathbf{g}|_{2}^{2} \right).$$

Integrating with respect to time from  $\tau$  to t, we then obtain the first part of estimate (4.2). Noticing that

$$\begin{split} &\langle \nabla \mu, \nabla \psi \rangle = -\langle \mu, \Delta \psi \rangle \\ = &|\Delta \psi|_2^2 - \langle f(\psi), \Delta \psi \rangle = |\Delta \psi|_2^2 + \langle f'(\psi) \nabla \psi, \nabla \psi \rangle \geqslant |\Delta \psi|_2^2 - 2\alpha |\nabla \psi|_2^2, \end{split}$$

we have

$$(4.6) |\Delta\psi|_2^2 \leqslant |\nabla\mu|_2 |\nabla\psi|_2 + 2\alpha |\nabla\psi|_2^2,$$

which, integrated in time, on account of the above estimate (4.1), gives the second part of estimate (4.2).

In order to prove (4.3), we square (4.6), obtaining

$$|\Delta\psi|_2^4 \leqslant C(|\nabla\mu|_2^2|\nabla\psi|_2^2 + |\nabla\psi|_2^4) \leqslant C(|\nabla\mu|_2^2|\nabla\psi|_2^2 + |\nabla\psi|_2^2|\Delta\psi|_2^2).$$

By an integration in time, in view of (4.1) and (4.2) we accomplish our purpose.  $\Box$ 

COROLLARY 4.5. If **g** satisfies (B.1) and (B.2) and  $\mathbf{z}(t) = (\mathbf{u}(t), \psi(t))$  is the solution departing at time  $\tau$  from the initial datum  $\mathbf{z}_0 \doteq (\mathbf{u}_0, \psi_0) \in \mathcal{H}_0$ , the following dissipative estimate holds

(4.7) 
$$|\mathbf{u}(t)|_{2}^{2} + |\nabla \psi(t)|_{2}^{2} + 2|F(\psi(t))|_{1}$$

$$\leq (|\mathbf{u}_{0}|_{2}^{2} + |\nabla \psi_{0}|_{2}^{2} + 2|F(\psi_{0})|_{1}) e^{-C(t-\tau)} + C(1 + M_{\mathbf{g}}(t)), \qquad \forall t \geqslant \tau.$$

PROOF. The dissipative estimate easily follows from the basic energy estimate (4.5) using Poincaré's and Gronwall's inequalities as well as the known estimate

$$e^{-Ct} \int_{\tau}^{t} e^{Cs} |\mathbf{g}(s)|_{2}^{2} ds$$

$$\leq e^{-Ct} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \int_{t-(n+1)}^{t-n} e^{Cs} |\mathbf{g}(s)|_{2}^{2} ds \leq e^{-Ct} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} e^{C(t-n)} \sup_{r \leq t} \int_{r-1}^{r} |\mathbf{g}(s)|_{2}^{2} ds$$

$$\leq C \sup_{r \leq t} \int_{r-1}^{r} |\mathbf{g}(s)|_{2}^{2} ds,$$

which holds for  $\mathbf{g} \in L^2_{\text{uloc}}(-\infty, t; \mathbf{L}^2(\Omega))$ .

REMARK 4.6. A bound on  $\nabla \Delta \psi$  in  $L^2(\tau, T; \mathbf{L}^2(\Omega))$  can also be easily deduced by computing the  $L^2$  norm of the gradient of the equation for the chemical potential  $\mu$  in (1.1) thus leading to the regularity of the order parameter field required by Definition 4.1. However, the dependence of this estimate on p-powers of the norms of the data does not seem to be easy to avoid.

Remark 4.7. From the above computations we deduce the following regularity for weak solutions of system (1.1)

$$\mathbf{u} \in L^{\infty}(\tau, T; \mathbf{L}^{2}_{\mathrm{div}}(\Omega)) \cap L^{2}(\tau, T; \mathbf{H}^{1}_{0, \mathrm{div}}(\Omega))$$

$$\psi \in L^{\infty}(\tau, T; H^{1}(\Omega)) \cap L^{4}(\tau, T; H^{2}(\Omega))$$

$$F(\psi) \in L^{\infty}(\tau, T; L^{1}(\Omega))$$

$$\nabla \mu \in L^{2}(\tau, T; \mathbf{L}^{2}(\Omega))$$

for any  $T \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $T > \tau$ .

## 5. Higher regularity estimates

In order to obtain estimates depending on the growth exponent of f only through fixed powers of the norms of the initial data, we henceforth assume that F satisfies (A.7). Although all exponents and norms that appear in this and in the following sections are independent of p, the other constants might quickly become larger as p grows.

In particular, Assumption (A.7) and Lemma 4.3 imply

(5.1) 
$$|f^{(k)}(\psi(t))|_{\frac{p+3}{p+2-k}} \leq C(|F(\psi(t))|_1 + 1)$$
  
$$\leq C\left(|\mathbf{u}_0|_2^2 + |\nabla \psi_0|_2^2 + 2|F(\psi_0)|_1 + \int_{\tau}^t |\mathbf{g}(s)|_2^2 \, \mathrm{d}s + 1\right),$$

being  $(\mathbf{u}(t), \psi(t))$  the solution to (1.1)-(1.2) departing from  $(\mathbf{u}_0, \psi_0) \in \mathcal{H}_0$  at time  $\tau$ .

The goal of this section is to improve "by one order" the basic regularity result already obtained. In particular, under suitable assumptions, we will get to  $\mathbf{u} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbf{H}_{0,\mathrm{div}}^{1}(\Omega)) \cap L^{2}(\mathbf{H}_{0,\mathrm{div}}^{2}(\Omega))$  and  $\psi \in L^{\infty}(H^{2}(\Omega)) \cap L^{2}(H^{4}(\Omega))$ . This will be achieved in several steps gaining before spatial regularity for  $f(\psi)$  and  $\mu$  and later time regularity as well: before in Lemma 5.1 we will deduce  $f(\psi) \in L^{2}(L^{2}(\Omega))$  and  $\mu \in L^{2}(L^{2}(\Omega))$ ; then  $f(\psi) \in L^{2}(L^{q}(\Omega))$  and  $\Delta \psi \in L^{2}(L^{q}(\Omega))$  for any  $q \geqslant 1$ , as shown in Lemma 5.2; this will give  $\mu \in L^{\infty}(L^{2}(\Omega))$  (cf. Lemma 5.5) and the final result (see Lemma 5.8).

NOTATION. In order to simplify notation, we will denote by  $A_{t,\tau}$  the quantity

$$A_{t,\tau} \doteq 1 + |\mathbf{u}_0|_2^2 + |\nabla \psi_0|_2^2 + 2|F(\psi_0)|_1 + \int_{\tau}^t |\mathbf{g}(s)|_2^2 \,\mathrm{d}s,$$

which depends only on the initial data  $\mathbf{u}_0$ ,  $\psi_0$ , on the forcing term  $\mathbf{g}$  and on the times t and  $\tau$ . Besides, C stands for a generic positive constant depending only on  $\Omega$  and possibly on p when explicitly stated and is allowed to vary even in the same line

LEMMA 5.1. If  $\mathbf{z}(t) = (\mathbf{u}(t), \psi(t))$  is the solution departing at time  $\tau$  from the initial datum  $\mathbf{z}_0 \doteq (\mathbf{u}_0, \psi_0) \in \mathcal{H}_0$ , denoting by  $\mu(t)$  the corresponding chemical potential, there holds

(5.2) 
$$\int_{\tau}^{t} (|f(\psi(s)|_{2}^{2} + |\mu(s)|_{2}^{2}) ds \leq C A_{t,\tau}^{2} + C(t - \tau) A_{t,\tau}$$

for any  $t \geqslant \tau$ ,  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ .

PROOF. Remark 2.1 allows to bound the mean value of  $f(\psi)$  as

$$|\langle f(\psi)\rangle| \leqslant C|f(\psi)|_{\frac{p+3}{p+2}} \leqslant C(1+|F(\psi)|_1),$$

for some C > 0 depending on p only through the constant  $c_0$  in Assumption (A.7). Recalling the equation defining the chemical potential in (1.1) and estimate (4.6), we further deduce

$$|f(\psi) - \langle f(\psi) \rangle|_2^2 \leqslant 2|\mu - \langle \mu \rangle|_2^2 + 2|\Delta \psi|_2^2 \leqslant C|\nabla \mu|_2^2 + 4\alpha|\nabla \psi|_2^2.$$

Therefore, we gain full control on the  $L^2$ -norm of  $f(\psi)$ , bounding its time integral as

$$\int_{\tau}^{t} |f(\psi(s))|_{2}^{2} ds$$

$$\leq C \int_{\tau}^{t} |\nabla \mu(s)|_{2}^{2} ds + 4\alpha \int_{\tau}^{t} |\nabla \psi(s)|_{2}^{2} ds + C \int_{\tau}^{t} (1 + |F(\psi(s))|_{1})^{2} ds$$

$$\leq C A_{t,\tau}^{2} + C(t - \tau) A_{t,\tau},$$

where we used (4.1) and (4.2) from Lemma 4.3. The second part of estimate (5.2) follows from

$$|\mu|_2^2 \le 2(|\Delta\psi|_2^2 + |f(\psi)|_2^2),$$

the above bound and (4.2).

As announced before, the integrability of  $f(\psi)$  can be further improved in two steps.

LEMMA 5.2. If  $\mathbf{z}(t) = (\mathbf{u}(t), \psi(t))$  is the solution departing at time  $\tau$  from the initial datum  $\mathbf{z}_0 \doteq (\mathbf{u}_0, \psi_0) \in \mathcal{H}_0$ , then there exists a positive constant C such that for any b > 0 the following estimate holds

$$\int_{\tau}^{t} \left( |f(\psi(s))|_{b+2}^{2} + |\Delta \psi(s)|_{b+2}^{2} \right) ds \leqslant C(b+2)^{2} A_{t,\tau}^{2} + C(b+2)^{2} (t-\tau) A_{t,\tau},$$

meaning that  $f(\psi)$ ,  $\Delta \psi \in L^2(\tau, t; L^{b+2}(\Omega))$ , for any b > 0.

Remark 5.3. We note that this estimate extends to singular functional f, without appealing to approximation arguments as in [2] but with the same order of control with respect to data.

PROOF. Multiplying the equation for the chemical potential by  $f(\psi)|f(\psi)|^b$  and integrating over  $\Omega$ , we have

$$\langle \mu, f(\psi)|f(\psi)|^b \rangle = |f(\psi)|_{b+2}^{b+2} - \langle \Delta \psi, f(\psi)|f(\psi)|^b \rangle.$$

We now exploit assumption (A.5) on F, proving after an integration by parts

$$-\left\langle \Delta \psi, f(\psi) | f(\psi) |^b \right\rangle = (b+1) \left\langle f'(\psi), | f(\psi) |^b | \nabla \psi |^2 \right\rangle \geqslant -2\alpha (b+1) \left\langle | f(\psi) |^b, | \nabla \psi |^2 \right\rangle.$$

Replacing this estimate in (5.3) above leads to

$$|f(\psi)|_{b+2}^{b+2} \leqslant 2\alpha(b+1) \left\langle |f(\psi)|^b, |\nabla \psi|^2 \right\rangle + \left\langle |\mu|, |f(\psi)|^{b+1} \right\rangle.$$

Hölder's and Young's inequalities then provide

$$\begin{split} |f(\psi)|_{b+2}^{b+2} &\leqslant 2\alpha(b+1)|f(\psi)|_{b+2}^{b}|\nabla\psi|_{b+2}^{2} + |\mu|_{b+2}|f(\psi)|_{b+2}^{b+1} \\ &\leqslant \frac{1}{2}|f(\psi)|_{b+2}^{b+2} + (2b)^{\frac{b}{2}} \left(\frac{4\alpha(b+1)}{b+2}\right)^{\frac{b+2}{2}}|\nabla\psi|_{b+2}^{b+2} \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{4}(b+1)^{b+1} \left(\frac{4}{b+2}\right)^{b+2}|\mu|_{b+2}^{b+2}. \end{split}$$

In particular, we used here the following version of Young's inequality

$$ab \leqslant ca^p + \frac{1}{q}(cp)^{\frac{1}{1-p}}b^q, \quad \forall a, b, c > 0, \quad \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1, \quad p, q > 1.$$

Recalling that from standard interpolation the inequality

$$|h|_{b+2} \leqslant C_{I,b}|h|_{b+2}^{\frac{2}{b+2}}|h|_{h+1}^{\frac{b}{b+2}},$$

holds, we end up with

$$|f(\psi)|_{b+2}^{b+2} \leqslant 2(2b)^{\frac{b}{2}} \left(\frac{4\alpha(b+1)}{b+2}\right)^{\frac{b+2}{2}} |\nabla\psi|_{b+2}^{b+2} + \frac{1}{2}(b+1)^{b+1} \left(\frac{4}{b+2}\right)^{b+2} |\mu|_{b+2}^{b+2}$$

$$\leqslant 2C_{I,b}^{b+2} C_p^b (2b)^{\frac{b}{2}} \left(\frac{4\alpha(b+1)}{b+2}\right)^{\frac{b+2}{2}} |\nabla\psi|_2^2 |\Delta\psi|_2^b$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} C_{I,b}^{b+2} (b+1)^{b+1} \left(\frac{4}{b+2}\right)^{b+2} |\mu|_2^2 |\mu|_{H^1}^b.$$
(5.5)

Here the interpolation constant  $C_{I,b}$  is proportional to  $(b+2)^{\frac{1}{2}}$  (see [10] for an exact expression of the optimal constant appearing in this Gagliardo-Niremberg inequality), while  $C_p$  is Poincaré constant from

$$\|\nabla\psi\|_{H^1} \leqslant C_p |\Delta\psi|_2$$

A further application of Young's inequality then gives

$$\begin{split} |f(\psi)|_{b+2}^2 &\leqslant 2^{\frac{2}{b+2}} C_{I,b}^2 C_p^{\frac{2b}{b+2}} \frac{4\alpha(b+1)}{b+2} (2b)^{\frac{b}{b+2}} \left( \frac{2}{b+2} |\nabla \psi|_2^2 + \frac{b}{b+2} |\Delta \psi|_2^2 \right) \\ &+ C_{I,b}^2 \left( \frac{4}{b+2} \right)^2 (b+1)^{\frac{2(b+1)}{b+2}} \left( |\mu|_2^2 + \frac{b}{b+2} |\nabla \mu|_2^2 \right). \end{split}$$

Noting that the constants

$$\frac{(2b)^{\frac{b}{b+2}}}{b+2}$$
,  $\frac{(b+1)^{\frac{2(b+1)}{b+2}}}{(b+2)^2}$  and  $\frac{b}{b+2}$ 

are uniformly bounded from above for  $b\geqslant 0,$  integration with respect to time, leads to

$$\int_{\tau}^{t} |f(\psi(s))|_{b+2}^{2} ds \leq C(b+2)^{2} \int_{\tau}^{t} (|\nabla \psi(s)|_{2}^{2} + |\Delta \psi(s)|_{2}^{2} + |\mu(s)|_{2}^{2} + |\nabla \mu(s)|_{2}^{2}) ds,$$

thus Lemmata 4.3 and 5.1 provide the first part of the desired estimate. To complete our argument, it is sufficient to exploit the equation for the chemical potential  $\mu$  and this last estimate together with Lemmata 4.3 and 5.1:

$$|\Delta \psi|_{b+2}^2 \le 2(|\mu|_{b+2}^2 + |f(\psi)|_{b+2}^2) \le 2(|\mu|_2^2 + |\nabla \mu|_2^2 + |f(\psi)|_{b+2}^2).$$

Remark 5.4. Provided that F satisfies (A.7), estimates (4.1) and (2.2) entail  $f(\psi) \in L^{\infty}(\tau,t;L^{(p+3)/(p+2)}(\Omega))$  (cf. Remark 2.1). Besides, the above Lemma 5.2 implies  $f(\psi) \in L^2(\tau,t;L^{b+2}(\Omega))$  for any b>0. Being (p+3)/(p+2)>1, by the interpolation inequality

(5.6) 
$$|h|_2 \leqslant |h|_{\frac{p+3}{p+2}}^{\theta+3} |h|_{b+2}^{1-\theta}, \quad \text{where } \theta = \frac{b(p+3)}{2(bp+2b+p+1)},$$

we deduce that, when  $4(1-\theta) = 4\frac{(b+2)(p+1)}{2(bp+2b+p+1)} = 2$ , that is, b = 1+p,

$$\int_{\tau}^{t} |f(\psi(s))|_{2}^{4} ds \leq \|f(\psi)\|_{L^{\infty}(\tau,t;L^{\frac{p+3}{p+2}}(\Omega))}^{2} \int_{\tau}^{t} |f(\psi(s))|_{p+3}^{2} ds.$$

On account of (2.2), Lemmata 4.3 and 5.2, it thus follows  $f(\psi) \in L^4(\tau, t; L^2(\Omega))$  and, in particular,

(5.7) 
$$||f(\psi)||_{L^4(\tau,t;L^2(\Omega))}^4 \leqslant Cp^2(A_{t,\tau}^4 + (t-\tau)A_{t,\tau}^3).$$

LEMMA 5.5. If  $\mathbf{z}(t) = (\mathbf{u}(t), \psi(t))$  is the solution departing at time  $\tau$  from any initial datum  $\mathbf{z}_0 \doteq (\mathbf{u}_0, \psi_0) \in \mathcal{H}_1$  so that  $\mu_0 \doteq f(\psi_0) - \Delta \psi_0 \in L^2(\Omega)$ , then there exists C > 0 depending only on p such that the chemical potential  $\mu$  is bounded in  $L^{\infty}(\tau, T; L^2(\Omega)) \cap L^2(\tau, T; H^2(\Omega))$  for all  $T > \tau$  and there hold

$$|\mu(t)|_2^2 \leqslant C \left( |\mu(\tau)|_2^2 + A_{t,\tau}^3 + (t-\tau)A_{t,\tau} \right) e^{C(A_{t,\tau}^4 + (t-\tau)A_{t,\tau}^3)}$$

and

$$\begin{split} & \int_{\tau}^{t} |\Delta \mu(s)|_{2}^{2} \, \mathrm{d}s \\ \leqslant & C \left( |\mu(\tau)|_{2}^{2} + A_{t,\tau}^{3} + (t-\tau)A_{t,\tau} \right) \left( A_{t,\tau}^{4} + (t-\tau)A_{t,\tau}^{3} \right) e^{C \left( A_{t,\tau}^{4} + (t-\tau)A_{t,\tau}^{3} \right)}. \end{split}$$

PROOF. The evolution of the chemical potential  $\mu$  is governed by

(5.8) 
$$\partial_t \mu = f'(\psi) \Delta \mu - f'(\psi) (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \psi - \Delta^2 \mu + \Delta ((\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \psi),$$

as can be seen by formally differentiating with respect to time the last equation in (1.1) and by taking into account the third one. The product of this equality by  $\mu$  gives rise to three terms from the right hand side: in order to exploit the lower bound on f', the first one can be written as

$$\begin{split} & \left\langle f'(\psi) \Delta \mu, \mu \right\rangle \\ &= -\left\langle f'(\psi) \nabla \mu, \nabla \mu \right\rangle - \left\langle f''(\psi) \nabla \psi, \mu \nabla \mu \right\rangle \\ &= -\left\langle f'(\psi) \nabla \mu, \nabla \mu \right\rangle - \frac{1}{2} \left\langle f''(\psi) \nabla \psi, \nabla (\mu^2) \right\rangle \\ &= -\left\langle f'(\psi) \nabla \mu, \nabla \mu \right\rangle + \frac{1}{2} \left\langle f''(\psi) \Delta \psi, \mu^2 \right\rangle + \frac{1}{2} \left\langle f'''(\psi) \left| \nabla \psi \right|^2, \mu^2 \right\rangle. \end{split}$$

Thanks to the incompressibility condition, the second one reads as

$$-\langle f'(\psi)(\mathbf{u}\cdot\nabla)\psi,\mu\rangle=\langle f(\psi),\mathbf{u}\cdot\nabla\mu\rangle.$$

Finally, noticing that the third equation in (1.1) and the boundary conditions (1.2) imply  $\partial_{\mathbf{n}}(\Delta \mu - \mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla \psi) = \partial_{\mathbf{n}}\partial_t \psi = 0$  on  $\partial \Omega$ , the last term is

$$-\langle \Delta^2 \mu - \Delta(\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla \psi), \mu \rangle = -|\Delta \mu|_2^2 + \langle \mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla \psi, \Delta \mu \rangle.$$

These computations lead us to

$$(5.9) \quad \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} |\mu|_{2}^{2} + |\Delta\mu|_{2}^{2}$$

$$= -\langle f'(\psi)\nabla\mu, \nabla\mu\rangle + \frac{1}{2} \langle f''(\psi)\Delta\psi, \mu^{2}\rangle + \frac{1}{2} \langle f'''(\psi) |\nabla\psi|^{2}, \mu^{2}\rangle + \langle f(\psi)\mathbf{u}, \nabla\mu\rangle + \langle (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla)\psi, \Delta\mu\rangle.$$

By Assumption (A.5) on the potential F, the first term on the right hand side of identity (5.9) is easily controlled by  $2\alpha |\nabla \mu|_2^2$  while the last one can be bounded by

$$\begin{split} &|\langle (\mathbf{u}\cdot\nabla)\psi,\Delta\mu\rangle|\\ \leqslant &|\mathbf{u}|_4|\nabla\psi|_4|\Delta\mu|_2\\ \leqslant &C|\mathbf{u}|_2^{\frac{1}{2}}|\nabla\mathbf{u}|_2^{\frac{1}{2}}|\nabla\psi|_2^{\frac{1}{2}}|\Delta\psi|_2^{\frac{1}{2}}|\Delta\mu|_2\\ \leqslant &\frac{1}{8}|\Delta\mu|_2^2+C|\mathbf{u}|_2|\nabla\mathbf{u}|_2|\nabla\psi|_2|\Delta\psi|_2. \end{split}$$

We are left to consider the other terms in (5.9). Having in mind (5.1), we prove

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{2} \left| \left\langle f''(\psi) \Delta \psi, \mu^{2} \right\rangle \right| \\ \leqslant &\frac{1}{2} |f''(\psi)|_{\frac{p+3}{p}} |\Delta \psi|_{p+3} |\mu|_{p+3}^{2} \\ \leqslant &C |f''(\psi)|_{\frac{p+3}{p}} |\Delta \psi|_{p+3} |\mu|_{H^{1}}^{2} \\ \leqslant &C |f''(\psi)|_{\frac{p+3}{p}} |\Delta \psi|_{p+3} (|\mu|_{2}^{2} + |\mu|_{2} |\Delta \mu|_{2}) \\ \leqslant &\frac{1}{8} |\Delta \mu|_{2}^{2} + C \left( |f''(\psi)|_{\frac{p+3}{p}}^{2} + 1 \right) (|\Delta \psi|_{p+3}^{2} + 1) |\mu|_{2}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Analogously we have

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{2} \left| \left\langle f'''(\psi) | \nabla \psi |^2, \mu^2 \right\rangle \right| \\ \leqslant &\frac{1}{2} |f'''(\psi)|_{\frac{p+3}{p-1}} |\nabla \psi|_{p+3}^2 |\mu|_{p+3}^2 \\ \leqslant &C |f'''(\psi)|_{\frac{p+3}{p-1}} |\Delta \psi|_2^2 ||\mu||_{H^1}^2 \\ \leqslant &C |f'''(\psi)|_{\frac{p+3}{p-1}} |\Delta \psi|_2^2 (|\mu|_2^2 + |\mu|_2 |\Delta \mu|_2) \\ \leqslant &\frac{1}{8} |\Delta \mu|_2^2 + C (|f'''(\psi)|_{\frac{p+3}{p-1}}^2 + 1) (|\Delta \psi|_2^4 + 1) |\mu|_2^2. \end{split}$$

There also holds

$$\begin{split} & |\langle f(\psi), \mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla \mu \rangle| \\ \leqslant & |f(\psi)|_{\frac{p+3}{p+2}} |\mathbf{u}|_{2(p+3)} |\nabla \mu|_{2(p+3)} \\ \leqslant & C|f(\psi)|_{\frac{p+3}{p+2}} |\nabla \mathbf{u}|_{2} ||\bar{\mu}||_{H^{2}} \\ \leqslant & \frac{1}{8} |\Delta \mu|_{2}^{2} + C|\nabla \mu|_{2}^{2} + C|f(\psi)|_{\frac{p+3}{p+2}}^{2} |\nabla \mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Collecting the above estimates and recalling (5.1), we have

(5.10) 
$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}|\mu|_2^2 + |\Delta\mu|_2^2 \leqslant h|\mu|_2^2 + g,$$

where

$$h = C(1 + |F(\psi)|_1)^2 (1 + |\Delta\psi|_2^4 + |\Delta\psi|_{p+3}^2)$$
  

$$g = C|\nabla\mu|_2^2 + C|\mathbf{u}|_2|\nabla\mathbf{u}|_2|\nabla\psi|_2|\Delta\psi|_2 + C(1 + |F(\psi)|_1)^2|\nabla\mathbf{u}|_2^2.$$

In view of (4.3), Lemmata 4.3 and 5.2, h and g are integrable quantities. Indeed, we have

$$\int_{\tau}^{t} h(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \leqslant C \left( A_{t,\tau}^{4} + (t - \tau) A_{t,\tau}^{3} \right),$$
$$\int_{\tau}^{t} g(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \leqslant C \left( A_{t,\tau}^{3} + (t - \tau) A_{t,\tau} \right).$$

By Gronwall's lemma we further deduce

$$|\mu(t)|_2^2 \leqslant \left(|\mu(\tau)|_2^2 + \int_{\tau}^t g(s)ds\right) \exp\left(\int_{\tau}^t h(s)ds\right)$$

that is,

$$|\mu(t)|_2^2 \leqslant C \left( |\mu(\tau)|_2^2 + A_{t,\tau}^3 + (t-\tau)A_{t,\tau} \right) e^{C(A_{t,\tau}^4 + (t-\tau)A_{t,\tau}^3)}.$$

Moreover, integrating (5.10), from the estimates above we also deduce

$$\int_{\tau}^{t} |\Delta \mu(s)|_{2}^{2} ds$$

$$\leq |\mu(\tau)|_{2}^{2} + \int_{\tau}^{t} h(s)|\mu(s)|_{2}^{2} ds + \int_{\tau}^{t} g(s) ds$$

$$\leq C (|\mu(\tau)|_{2}^{2} + A_{t,\tau}^{3} + (t - \tau)A_{t,\tau}) \left(A_{t,\tau}^{4} + (t - \tau)A_{t,\tau}^{3}\right) e^{C(A_{t,\tau}^{4} + (t - \tau)A_{t,\tau}^{3})}. \quad \Box$$

Remark 5.6. The above Lemma has several consequences. First of all, from the third equation of (1.1) we easily obtain  $|\partial_t \psi|_2^2 \leq C(|\Delta \mu|_2^2 + |\mathbf{u}|_2|\nabla \mathbf{u}|_2|\nabla \psi|_2|\Delta \psi|_2)$ . Thus, Lemmata 4.3 and 5.5 yield

(5.11) 
$$\int_{\tau}^{t} |\partial_{t}\psi(s)|_{2}^{2} ds$$

$$\leq C \left( |\mu(\tau)|_{2}^{2} + A_{t,\tau}^{3} + (t-\tau)A_{t,\tau} \right) \left( A_{t,\tau}^{4} + (t-\tau)A_{t,\tau}^{3} \right) e^{C(A_{t,\tau}^{4}(t-\tau)A_{t,\tau}^{3})}.$$

Besides, by (5.5) with b=2, we have

$$|f(\psi)|_4^4 \leqslant C(|\nabla \psi|_2^2 |\Delta \psi|_2^2 + |\mu|_2^4 + |\mu|_2^2 |\nabla \mu|_2^2),$$

hence Lemmata 5.1 and 5.5 entail  $f(\psi) \in L^4(\tau, t; L^4(\Omega))$ , with

$$(5.12) \int_{\tau}^{t} |f(\psi(s))|_{4}^{4} ds$$

$$\leq C \left( |\mu(\tau)|_{2}^{2} + A_{t,\tau}^{3} + (t - \tau)A_{t,\tau} \right) \left( A_{t,\tau}^{2} + (t - \tau)A_{t,\tau} \right) e^{C(A_{t,\tau}^{4} + (t - \tau)A_{t,\tau}^{3})}.$$

REMARK 5.7. Actually, even more uniform estimates can be deduced from the above Lemmata. For example, from (5.5), using Ladyzhenskaya inequality and interpolation estimates, we deduce

$$\begin{split} |f(\psi)|_4^8 &\leqslant C \left( |\nabla \psi|_2^4 |\Delta \psi|_2^4 + |\mu|_2^8 + |\mu|_2^4 |\nabla \mu|_2^4 \right) \\ &\leqslant C \left( |\nabla \psi|_2^4 |\Delta \psi|_2^4 + |\mu|_2^8 + |\mu|_2^6 |\Delta \mu|_2^2 \right), \end{split}$$

i.e.  $f(\psi) \in L^8(\tau, t; L^4(\Omega))$ . In particular, (5.13)

$$\begin{split} \int_{t-1}^{t} |f(\psi(s))|_{4}^{8} \, \mathrm{d}s &\leqslant C \int_{t-1}^{t} \left( |\nabla \psi(s)|_{2}^{4} |\Delta \psi(s)|_{2}^{4} + |\mu(s)|_{2}^{8} + |\mu(s)|_{2}^{6} |\Delta \mu(s)|_{2}^{2} \right) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leqslant C \left( |\mu(t-1)|_{2}^{2} + A_{t,t-1}^{3} \right)^{4} A_{t,t-1}^{4} e^{CA_{t,t-1}^{4}}. \end{split}$$

Thanks to our assumptions on f and to the previous results, we can now obtain estimates on the higher norms of the solution, which have the particular dependence on the growth of the potential F discussed above. More precisely, the dependence on the growth of the potential F is limited to the constants C, which appear in the estimate.

LEMMA 5.8. Given any initial datum  $\mathbf{z}_0 \doteq (\mathbf{u}_0, \psi_0) \in \mathcal{H}_1$  so that  $\mu_0 \doteq f(\psi_0) - \Delta \psi_0 \in L^2(\Omega)$ , the solution departing at time  $\tau$  from  $\mathbf{z}_0$  satisfies

$$(5.14) \|\mathbf{z}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2$$

$$\leqslant C \left( \|\mathbf{z}_0\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2 + |\mu_0|_2^2 + A_{t,\tau}^3 + (t-\tau)A_{t,\tau} \right) \left( A_{t,\tau}^5 + (t-\tau)A_{t,\tau}^4 \right) e^{C\left(A_{t,\tau}^4 + (t-\tau)A_{t,\tau}^3\right)}$$

for some constant C > 0 depending on the exponent p and on the domain  $\Omega$  but independent of the initial data. Moreover,

$$\begin{split} & \int_{\tau}^{t} \left( |\Delta^{2} \psi(s)|_{2}^{2} + |\Delta \mathbf{u}(s)|_{2}^{2} \right) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ & \leq C \left( \|\mathbf{z}_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2} + |\mu_{0}|_{2}^{2} + A_{t,\tau}^{3} + (t-\tau)A_{t,\tau} \right) \left( A_{t,\tau}^{7} + (t-\tau)A_{t,\tau}^{6} \right) e^{C\left(A_{t,\tau}^{4} + (t-\tau)A_{t,\tau}^{3}\right)}. \end{split}$$

PROOF. In this proof, we will exploit the following inequality

$$|f'(y)| + |f''(y)| \leqslant C (1 + |f(y)|), \quad \forall y \in \mathbb{R},$$

which can be easily obtained from Assumptions (A.3), (A.4), (A.5), (A.6) and (A.7) by means of the Young's inequality. In particular, we will take advantage of its straightforward consequence

$$|f'(\psi)|_4 + |f''(\psi)|_4 \le C (1 + |f(\psi)|_4).$$

Adding together the product of the first equation in (1.1) by  $2A\mathbf{u} = -2\mathbb{P}\Delta\mathbf{u}$  and of the third one by  $2\Delta^2\psi$ , we obtain

(5.15)

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left( |\nabla \mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2} + |\Delta \psi|_{2}^{2} \right) + 2\nu |A\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2} + 2|\Delta^{2}\psi|_{2}^{2}$$

$$= 2 \langle \mathbf{g}, A\mathbf{u} \rangle - 2 \langle (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{u}, A\mathbf{u} \rangle + 2 \langle \mu \nabla \psi, A\mathbf{u} \rangle - 2 \langle (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla)\psi, \Delta^{2}\psi \rangle + 2 \langle \Delta f(\psi), \Delta^{2}\psi \rangle.$$

The first two terms arising from Navier-Stokes equations can be dealt with by writing

$$\begin{split} &|-2 \left\langle (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u}, A \mathbf{u} \right\rangle + 2 \left\langle \mathbf{g}, A \mathbf{u} \right\rangle| \\ \leqslant & C(|\mathbf{u}|_2^{\frac{1}{2}} |\nabla \mathbf{u}|_2 |A \mathbf{u}|_2^{\frac{3}{2}} + |\mathbf{g}|_2 |A \mathbf{u}|_2) \\ \leqslant & \frac{\nu}{2} |A \mathbf{u}|_2^2 + C|\mathbf{u}|^2 |\nabla \mathbf{u}|_2^4 + C|\mathbf{g}|_2^2. \end{split}$$

Since  $\langle \mu \nabla \psi, A \mathbf{u} \rangle = -\langle \Delta \psi \nabla \psi, A \mathbf{u} \rangle$ , from the Agmon's inequality we easily have

$$\begin{split} &|2\left\langle \mu\nabla\psi,A\mathbf{u}\right\rangle|\\ \leqslant&2|\Delta\psi|_{\infty}|\nabla\psi|_{2}|A\mathbf{u}|_{2}\\ \leqslant&C|\Delta\psi|_{2}^{\frac{1}{2}}|\Delta^{2}\psi|_{2}^{\frac{1}{2}}|\nabla\psi|_{2}|A\mathbf{u}|_{2}\\ \leqslant&\frac{\nu}{2}|A\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2}+\frac{1}{3}|\Delta^{2}\psi|_{2}^{2}+C|\nabla\psi|_{2}^{4}|\Delta\psi|_{2}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Then, by Ladyzhenskaja inequality and standard estimates

$$\begin{split} &\left|2\left\langle(\mathbf{u}\cdot\nabla)\psi,\Delta^2\psi\right\rangle\right|\\ \leqslant &2|\mathbf{u}|_4|\nabla\psi|_4|\Delta^2\psi|_2\\ \leqslant &C|\mathbf{u}|_2^{\frac{1}{2}}|\nabla\mathbf{u}|_2^{\frac{1}{2}}|\nabla\psi|_2^{\frac{1}{2}}|\Delta\psi|_2^{\frac{1}{2}}|\Delta^2\psi|_2\\ \leqslant &\frac{1}{3}|\Delta^2\psi|_2^2+C|\mathbf{u}|_2^2|\nabla\mathbf{u}|_2^2+C|\nabla\psi|_2^2|\Delta\psi|_2^2. \end{split}$$

We are left to consider the last term in (5.15), for which we exploit

$$|\Delta\psi|_2|\nabla\Delta\psi|_2 \leqslant C|\nabla\psi|_2|\Delta^2\psi|_2,$$

namely,

$$\begin{split} & 2 \left| \left\langle \Delta f(\psi), \Delta^2 \psi \right\rangle \right| \\ &= \left| 2 \left\langle f'(\psi) \Delta \psi, \Delta^2 \psi \right\rangle + 2 \left\langle f''(\psi) | \nabla \psi|^2, \Delta^2 \psi \right\rangle \right| \\ & \leqslant C (1 + |f(\psi)|_4) (|\Delta \psi|_4 + |\nabla \psi|_\infty | \nabla \psi|_4) |\Delta^2 \psi|_2 \\ & \leqslant C (1 + |f(\psi)|_4) (|\Delta \psi|_2^{\frac{1}{2}} | \nabla \Delta \psi|_2^{\frac{1}{2}} + |\nabla \psi|_2^{\frac{1}{2}} | \nabla \Delta \psi|_2^{\frac{1}{2}} | \nabla \psi|_2^{\frac{1}{2}} |\Delta \psi|_2^{\frac{1}{2}}) |\Delta^2 \psi|_2 \\ & \leqslant C (1 + |f(\psi)|_4) (|\nabla \psi|_2^{\frac{1}{2}} |\Delta^2 \psi|_2^{\frac{1}{2}} + |\nabla \psi|_2^{\frac{3}{2}} |\Delta^2 \psi|_2^{\frac{1}{2}}) |\Delta^2 \psi|_2 \\ & \leqslant \frac{1}{3} |\Delta^2 \psi|_2^2 + C (1 + |f(\psi)|_4^4) (1 + |\nabla \psi|_2^6). \end{split}$$

We finally deduce the differential inequality

(5.16) 
$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left( |\nabla \mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2} + |\Delta \psi|_{2}^{2} \right) + \nu |A\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2} + |\Delta^{2}\psi|_{2}^{2} \\
\leqslant C |\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2} |\nabla \mathbf{u}|_{2}^{4} \\
+ C \left( |\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2} |\nabla \mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2} + (1 + |f(\psi)|_{4}^{4}) (|\nabla \psi|_{2}^{6} + 1) + (|\nabla \psi|_{2}^{4} + 1) |\Delta \psi|_{2}^{2} + |\mathbf{g}|_{2}^{2} \right).$$

Introducing

$$h = C|\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2}|\nabla\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2}$$

$$g = C(|\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2}|\nabla\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2} + (1 + |f(\psi)|_{4}^{4})(|\nabla\psi|_{2}^{6} + 1) + (|\nabla\psi|_{2}^{4} + 1)|\Delta\psi|_{2}^{2} + |\mathbf{g}|_{2}^{2}),$$

the above differential inequality reads as

(5.17) 
$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|\mathbf{z}\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2 \leqslant h \|\mathbf{z}\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2 + g.$$

Thus Gronwall's lemma gives

$$\|\mathbf{z}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2 \le \left(\|\mathbf{z}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2 + \int_{\tau}^t g(s) \,\mathrm{d}s\right) e^{\int_{\tau}^t h(s) \,\mathrm{d}s}$$

where, by (5.12) and Lemma 4.3 we have

$$\begin{split} & \int_{\tau}^{t} h(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \leqslant C A_{t,\tau}^{2} \\ & \int_{\tau}^{t} g(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \leqslant C \left( |\mu(\tau)|_{2}^{2} + A_{t,\tau}^{3} + (t-\tau)A_{t,\tau} \right) \left( A_{t,\tau}^{5} + (t-\tau)A_{t,\tau}^{4} \right) e^{C(A_{t,\tau}^{4} + (t-\tau)A_{t,\tau}^{3})} \end{split}$$

and the estimate (5.14). Moreover, integrating (5.16), we also have

$$\int_{\tau}^{t} \left( |\Delta^{2} \psi(s)|_{2}^{2} + |\Delta \mathbf{u}(s)|_{2}^{2} \right) ds$$

$$\leq C \left( \|\mathbf{z}_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2} + |\mu(\tau)|_{2}^{2} + A_{t,\tau}^{3} + (t - \tau)A_{t,\tau} \right) \left( A_{t,\tau}^{7} + (t - \tau)A_{t,\tau}^{6} \right) e^{C\left(A_{t,\tau}^{4} + (t - \tau)A_{t,\tau}^{3}\right)}.$$

In the case of regular initial data, i.e.  $\mathbf{z}_0 \in \mathcal{H}_1$ , we thus have the sought for higher regularity for solutions:

$$\mathbf{u} \in L^{\infty}(\tau, T; \mathbf{H}^{1}_{0, \operatorname{div}}(\Omega)) \cap L^{2}(\tau, T; \mathbf{H}^{2}_{0, \operatorname{div}}(\Omega))$$
$$\psi \in L^{\infty}(\tau, T; H^{2}(\Omega)) \cap L^{2}(\tau, T; H^{4}(\Omega))$$
$$\partial_{t} \psi \in L^{2}(\tau, T; L^{2}(\Omega))$$

COROLLARY 5.9. Given any symbol  $\mathbf{g}$  satisfying (B.1) and (B.2) and any  $t_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ , there exists a positive constant  $C_{\mathbf{g}}(t_0)$  such that, for any bounded set  $D \subset \mathcal{H}_0$ , there exists T = T(|D|) > 0 depending only on  $|D| \doteq \max\{1, \sup_{\mathbf{z} \in D} \|\mathbf{z}\|_{\mathcal{H}_0}\}$  such that

$$\|\mathbf{z}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_1} + |\mu(t)|_2 \leqslant C_{\mathbf{g}}(t_0), \quad t \leqslant t_0, \quad \tau \leqslant t - 4 - T(|D|),$$

where  $\mathbf{z}(t)$  is the solution to the problem with symbol  $\mathbf{g}$ , departing at time  $\tau$  from the initial datum  $\mathbf{z}_0 \in D$ , and  $\mu(t)$  is the corresponding chemical potential. Besides, the following integral estimates hold true

$$\int_{t-1}^{t} |f(\psi(s))|_{4}^{8} ds \leqslant Q(M_{\mathbf{g}}(t_{0}))$$

for  $t \leq t_0$ ,  $\tau \leq t - 4 - T(|D|)$ , and, for  $t \leq t_0$ ,  $\tau \leq t - 5 - T(|D|)$ ,

$$\int_{t-1}^{t} (|\Delta \mathbf{u}(s)|_{2}^{2} + |\Delta^{2} \psi(s)|_{2}^{2}) \, ds \leqslant Q(M_{\mathbf{g}}(t_{0})),$$

for some nonnegative increasing function Q depending on p only through a multiplicative constant.

PROOF. In order to prove the claim, we divide our argument in several steps. At each step, thanks to the estimates of the previous sections, we will be able to improve the regularity of the solution of (1.1)-(1.2) by letting the system evolve for a time interval sufficiently large (with the only exception of the initial step, however, all time steps will be taken equal to 1).

Firstly, thanks to Corollary 4.5, for any  $t_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ , any symbol **g** as above and any bounded set  $D \subset \mathcal{H}_0$ , there exists T = T(|D|) > 0 such that

 $\|\mathbf{z}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_0}^2 + 2|F(\psi(t))|_1 \leqslant 1 + C(1 + M_{\mathbf{g}}(t_0)) \leqslant C(1 + M_{\mathbf{g}}(t_0)), \quad t \leqslant t_0, \quad \tau \leqslant t - T,$  for any  $\mathbf{z}_0 \in D$ . Moreover integrating (4.5) and (4.6), for  $t \leqslant t_0$ 

$$\int_{t-1}^{t} (\|\mathbf{z}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2} + |\nabla \mu(s)|_{2}^{2}) ds$$

$$\leq C(1 + M_{\mathbf{g}}(t_{0})) + \|\mathbf{z}(t-1)\|_{\mathcal{H}_{0}}^{2} + 2|F(\psi(t-1))|_{1}, \quad \tau \leq t-1,$$

so that, provided that  $\tau \leq t - 1 - T$ , we deduce

(5.18) 
$$\int_{t-1}^{t} (\|\mathbf{z}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2} + |\nabla \mu(s)|_{2}^{2}) \, ds \leqslant C(1 + M_{\mathbf{g}}(t_{0}))$$

as well as

$$(5.19) A_{t,s} \leqslant C(1 + M_{\mathbf{g}}(t_0)), \tau + T \leqslant t - 1 \leqslant s \leqslant t \leqslant t_0.$$

It thus follows from Lemmata 4.3, 5.1 and 5.2

$$\int_{t-1}^{t} \left( |\Delta \psi(s)|_{2}^{4} + |\Delta \psi(s)|_{p+3}^{2} + |\mu(s)|_{2}^{2} \right) ds$$
  

$$\leq CA_{t,t-1}^{2} \leq C(1 + M_{\sigma}^{2}(t_{0})), \qquad \tau \leq t - 1 - T,$$

allowing to prove that the functions h and g in the differential inequality (5.10), for  $\tau + T < t - 1 < t \le t_0$ , satisfy

$$\int_{t-1}^{t} h(s) ds \leqslant C A_{t,t-1}^{4} \leqslant C (1 + M_{\mathbf{g}}^{4}(t_{0})),$$
$$\int_{t-1}^{t} g(s) ds \leqslant C A_{t,t-1}^{3} \leqslant C (1 + M_{\mathbf{g}}^{3}(t_{0})).$$

Hence, by the Uniform Gronwall's lemma and (5.19), it follows

$$(5.20) |\mu(t)|_2^2 \leqslant C \left(1 + M_{\sigma}^3(t_0)\right) e^{C\left(1 + M_{\mathbf{g}}^4(t_0)\right)}, \tau + T + 2 \leqslant t \leqslant t_0$$

as well as

$$\int_{t-1}^{t} |\Delta \mu(s)|_{2}^{2} ds \leqslant C \left(1 + M_{\mathbf{g}}^{7}(t_{0})\right) e^{C\left(1 + M_{\mathbf{g}}^{4}(t_{0})\right)}, \qquad \tau + T + 3 \leqslant t \leqslant t_{0}.$$

Then the first claimed integral estimate follows from (5.13) and (5.20), while the functions h and q in (5.17) satisfy

$$\int_{t-1}^{t} h(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \leqslant C \left( 1 + M_{\mathbf{g}}^{2}(t_{0}) \right) \qquad \int_{t-1}^{t} g(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \leqslant C \left( 1 + M_{\mathbf{g}}^{8}(t_{0}) \right) e^{C \left( 1 + M_{\mathbf{g}}^{4}(t_{0}) \right)},$$

provided that  $\tau + T + 3 \leq t \leq t_0$ . Therefore, applying the Uniform Gronwall's lemma to (5.17) we deduce

$$\|\mathbf{z}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2 \leqslant C_{\mathbf{g}}^2(t_0), \qquad \tau + T + 4 \leqslant t \leqslant t_0,$$

where

$$C_{\sigma}^{2}(t_{0}) \doteq C \left(1 + M_{\sigma}^{8}(t_{0})\right) e^{C\left(1 + M_{g}^{4}(t_{0})\right)}.$$

Finally, provided that  $\tau \leq t - 5 - T$ , integrating (5.16) over (t - 1, t) we obtain

$$\int_{t-1}^{t} (|\Delta \mathbf{u}(s)|_{2}^{2} + |\Delta^{2} \psi(s)|_{2}^{2}) \, \mathrm{d}s \leqslant C \left(1 + M_{\mathbf{g}}^{10}(t_{0})\right) e^{C\left(1 + M_{\mathbf{g}}^{4}(t_{0})\right)}.$$

# 6. Continuous dependence

In this section we obtain continuous dependence estimates of the solutions w.r.t. initial data and forcing terms (see Lemmata 6.1 and 6.2).

In order to address the first issue and to simplify notation, throughout the section we indicate by symbols with no subscripts the difference between quantities denoted by subscripts 1 and 2, i.e.,

$$f \doteq f_1 - f_2.$$

From (1.1)-(1.2) we easily see that the difference between two solutions  $\mathbf{z}_1 = (\mathbf{u}_1, \psi_1)$  and  $\mathbf{z}_2 = (\mathbf{u}_2, \psi_2)$  satisfies the system

(6.1) 
$$\begin{cases} \partial_{t}\mathbf{u} + (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{u}_{1} + (\mathbf{u}_{2} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{u} - \nu\Delta\mathbf{u} = \mu_{1}\nabla\psi_{1} - \mu_{2}\nabla\psi_{2} + \mathbf{g} \\ \nabla \cdot \mathbf{u} = 0 \\ \partial_{t}\psi + \mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla\psi_{1} + \mathbf{u}_{2} \cdot \nabla\psi = \Delta\mu \\ \mu = -\Delta\psi + f(\psi_{1}) - f(\psi_{2}) \\ \psi(\tau) = \psi_{01} - \psi_{02}, \quad \mathbf{u}(\tau) = \mathbf{u}_{01} - \mathbf{u}_{02} \end{cases}$$
 in  $\Omega$ ,

with the boundary conditions

$$\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{0}, \quad \partial_{\mathbf{n}} \psi = 0, \quad \partial_{\mathbf{n}} \mu = 0, \quad \text{on } \partial \Omega.$$

LEMMA 6.1. Let  $\mathbf{z}_{01}, \mathbf{z}_{02} \in \mathcal{H}_0$  be any pair of initial data and let  $\mathbf{g}_1, \mathbf{g}_2 \in L^2_{loc}(-\infty, t; \mathbf{L}^2_{div}(\Omega))$  be any pair of symbols. Then there exists a constant C such that, if  $\mathbf{z}_i(t)$ , i = 1, 2, are the solutions of (1.1)-(1.2) with initial data  $\mathbf{z}_{0i}$  at time  $\tau$  and symbol  $\mathbf{g}_i$ , then the following estimates hold

$$\|\mathbf{z}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_0}^2 \le \left(\|\mathbf{z}_0\|_{\mathcal{H}_0}^2 + \int_{\tau}^{t} |\mathbf{g}(s)|_2^2 ds\right) e^{C\left(\overline{A_{t,\tau}}^6 + (t-\tau)\overline{A_{t,\tau}}^5\right)}$$

and

$$\int_{\tau}^{t} \left( |\nabla \mathbf{u}(s)|_{2}^{2} + |\nabla \Delta \psi(s)|_{2}^{2} \right) ds$$

$$\leq C \left( \|\mathbf{z}_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}_{0}}^{2} + \int_{\tau}^{t} |\mathbf{g}(s)|_{2}^{2} ds \right) \left( \overline{A_{t,\tau}}^{6} + (t-\tau) \overline{A_{t,\tau}}^{5} \right) e^{C\left(\overline{A_{t,\tau}}^{6} + (t-\tau) \overline{A_{t,\tau}}^{5}\right)},$$

where  $\overline{A_{t,\tau}}$  is defined by  $\overline{A_{t,\tau}} \doteq A_{t,\tau(1)} + A_{t,\tau(2)}$  and  $A_{t,\tau(i)}$  is the quantity corresponding to the initial datum  $\mathbf{z}_i$  and the forcing term  $\mathbf{g}_i$ , for i = 1, 2.

PROOF. Recalling that, thanks to the incompressibility assumption on the velocity fields  $\mathbf{u}_i$ , for i = 1, 2, we have

$$\langle \mu_i \nabla \psi_i, \mathbf{u}_i \rangle$$

$$= -\langle \Delta \psi_i \nabla \psi_i, \mathbf{u}_i \rangle + \langle f(\psi_i) \nabla \psi_i, \mathbf{u}_i \rangle = -\langle \Delta \psi_i \nabla \psi_i, \mathbf{u}_i \rangle + \langle \nabla F(\psi_i), \mathbf{u}_i \rangle$$

$$= -\langle \Delta \psi_i \nabla \psi_i, \mathbf{u}_i \rangle,$$

the product of the first equation in (6.1) by  $2\mathbf{u}$  gives (6.2)

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}|\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2}+2\nu|\nabla\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2}+2\langle(\mathbf{u}\cdot\nabla)\mathbf{u}_{1},\mathbf{u}\rangle=-2\langle\Delta\psi\nabla\psi_{1},\mathbf{u}\rangle-2\langle\Delta\psi_{2}\nabla\psi,\mathbf{u}\rangle+2\langle\mathbf{g},\mathbf{u}\rangle.$$

Noticing that

$$\begin{split} &\langle \Delta \mu, \Delta \psi \rangle \\ &= \langle \Delta [-\Delta \psi + f(\psi_1) - f(\psi_2)], \Delta \psi \rangle \\ &= |\nabla \Delta \psi|_2^2 + \langle f'(\psi_1) \Delta \psi, \Delta \psi \rangle + \langle [f'(\psi_1) - f'(\psi_2)] \Delta \psi_2, \Delta \psi \rangle \\ &+ \langle f''(\psi_1) \nabla \psi (\nabla \psi_1 + \nabla \psi_2), \Delta \psi \rangle + \langle [f''(\psi_1) - f''(\psi_2)] |\nabla \psi_2|^2, \Delta \psi \rangle \\ &\geqslant |\nabla \Delta \psi|_2^2 - 2\alpha |\Delta \psi|_2^2 + \langle [f'(\psi_1) - f'(\psi_2)] \Delta \psi_2, \Delta \psi \rangle \\ &+ \langle f''(\psi_1) \nabla \psi (\nabla \psi_1 + \nabla \psi_2), \Delta \psi \rangle + \langle [f''(\psi_1) - f''(\psi_2)] |\nabla \psi_2|^2, \Delta \psi \rangle \end{split}$$

the product of the third equation in (6.1) by  $-2\Delta\psi$  yields

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} |\nabla \psi|_{2}^{2} + 2|\nabla \Delta \psi|_{2}^{2} - 2\langle (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla)\psi_{1}, \Delta \psi \rangle - 2\langle (\mathbf{u}_{2} \cdot \nabla)\psi, \Delta \psi \rangle$$

$$\leq 4\alpha |\Delta \psi|_{2}^{2} - 2\langle [f'(\psi_{1}) - f'(\psi_{2})]\Delta \psi_{2}, \Delta \psi \rangle$$

$$- 2\langle f''(\psi_{1})\nabla \psi(\nabla \psi_{1} + \nabla \psi_{2}), \Delta \psi \rangle - 2\langle [f''(\psi_{1}) - f''(\psi_{2})]|\nabla \psi_{2}|^{2}, \Delta \psi \rangle.$$

Adding this last inequality to (6.2) we have

(6.3) 
$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left( |\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2} + |\nabla\psi|_{2}^{2} \right) + 2\nu |\nabla\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2} + 2|\nabla\Delta\psi|_{2}^{2}$$

$$\leq 4\alpha |\Delta\psi|_{2}^{2} - 2\langle [f'(\psi_{1}) - f'(\psi_{2})]\Delta\psi_{2}, \Delta\psi\rangle - 2\langle f''(\psi_{1})\nabla\psi(\nabla\psi_{1} + \nabla\psi_{2}), \Delta\psi\rangle$$

$$- 2\langle [f''(\psi_{1}) - f''(\psi_{2})]|\nabla\psi_{2}|^{2}, \Delta\psi\rangle + 2\langle (\mathbf{u}_{2} \cdot \nabla)\psi, \Delta\psi\rangle$$

$$- 2\langle (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla)\psi, \Delta\psi_{2}\rangle - 2\langle (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{u}_{1}, \mathbf{u}\rangle + 2\langle \mathbf{g}, \mathbf{u}\rangle.$$

Since  $|\Delta \psi|_2^2 \leq |\nabla \psi|_2 |\nabla \Delta \psi|_2$ , we immediately obtain

$$4\alpha |\Delta\psi|_2^2 \leqslant 4\alpha |\nabla\psi|_2 |\nabla\Delta\psi|_2 \leqslant \frac{1}{5} |\nabla\Delta\psi|_2^2 + C|\nabla\psi|_2^2$$

Before dealing with the terms arising from the double-well potential F, we introduce some useful estimates for terms of the form  $|f^{(k)}(\psi_1) - f^{(k)}(\psi_2)|$ . Indeed from the fundamental theorem of calculus and by assumptions (A.7) and (A.5) we have

$$\begin{aligned} & \left| f^{(k)}(\psi_1) - f^{(k)}(\psi_2) \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{\psi_2}^{\psi_1} f^{(k+1)}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \right| \leqslant \int_{\psi_1}^{\psi_2} \left| f^{(k+1)}(s) \right| \, \mathrm{d}s \leqslant C \int_{\psi_1}^{\psi_2} \left( 1 + F(s)^{\frac{p+1-k}{p+3}} \right) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leqslant C \left( 1 + F(\psi_1)^{\frac{p+1-k}{p+3}} + F(\psi_2)^{\frac{p+1-k}{p+3}} \right) |\psi_1 - \psi_2|. \end{aligned}$$

Moreover, we can estimate suitable  $L^q$  norms of this difference as follows

$$(6.4) |f^{(k)}(\psi_{1}) - f^{(k)}(\psi_{2})|_{\frac{p+3}{p+2-k}}$$

$$\leq C \left( \int_{\Omega} (1 + F(\psi_{1}) + F(\psi_{2}))^{\frac{p+1-k}{p+2-k}} |\psi_{1} - \psi_{2}|^{\frac{p+3}{p+2-k}} d\mathbf{x} \right)^{\frac{(p+2-k)}{(p+3)}}$$

$$\leq C \left( \int_{\Omega} (1 + F(\psi_{1}) + F(\psi_{2})) d\mathbf{x} \right)^{\frac{p+1-k}{p+3}} \left( \int_{\Omega} |\psi_{1} - \psi_{2}|^{p+3} d\mathbf{x} \right)^{\frac{1}{p+3}}$$

$$\leq C \left( 1 + |F(\psi_{1})|_{1}^{\frac{p+1-k}{p+3}} + |F(\psi_{2})|_{1}^{\frac{p+1-k}{p+3}} \right) |\psi|_{p+3}.$$

In light of this bound, we can now resume the estimation of the terms in the right hand side of (6.3). We have

$$|2 \langle (f'(\psi_{1}) - f'(\psi_{2})) \Delta \psi_{2}, \Delta \psi \rangle|$$

$$\leq 2|f'(\psi_{1}) - f'(\psi_{2})|_{\frac{p+3}{p+1}} |\Delta \psi_{2}|_{p+3} |\Delta \psi|_{p+3}$$

$$\leq C \left(1 + |F(\psi_{1})|_{1}^{\frac{p}{p+3}} + |F(\psi_{2})|_{1}^{\frac{p}{p+3}}\right) |\nabla \psi|_{2} |\Delta \psi_{2}|_{p+3} |\nabla \Delta \psi|_{2}$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{5} |\nabla \Delta \psi|_{2}^{2} + C \left(1 + |F(\psi_{1})|_{1}^{\frac{p}{p+3}} + |F(\psi_{2})|_{1}^{\frac{p}{p+3}}\right)^{2} |\Delta \psi_{2}|_{p+3}^{2} |\nabla \psi|_{2}^{2}.$$

Analogously we also obtain

$$\begin{split} & \left| -2 \left\langle (f''(\psi_1) - f''(\psi_2)) \, | \nabla \psi_2 |^2, \Delta \psi \right\rangle \right| \\ \leqslant & 2 |f''(\psi_1) - f''(\psi_2)|_{\frac{p+3}{p}} | \nabla \psi_2 |_{p+3}^2 | \Delta \psi|_{p+3} \\ \leqslant & C \left( 1 + |F(\psi_1)|_1^{\frac{p-1}{p+3}} + |F(\psi_2)|_1^{\frac{p-1}{p+3}} \right) |\nabla \psi|_2 |\Delta \psi_2|_2^2 |\nabla \Delta \psi|_2 \\ \leqslant & \frac{1}{5} |\nabla \Delta \psi|_2^2 + C \left( 1 + |F(\psi_1)|_1^{\frac{p-1}{p+3}} + |F(\psi_2)|_1^{\frac{p-1}{p+3}} \right)^2 |\Delta \psi_2|_2^4 |\nabla \psi|_2^2. \end{split}$$

The last term involving the potential F and its derivatives can be dealt with in a similar way. Again the assumptions on F provide

$$\begin{split} &|-2\left\langle f''(\psi_{1})\nabla\psi(\nabla\psi_{1}+\nabla\psi_{2}),\Delta\psi\right\rangle|\\ \leqslant&2|f''(\psi_{1})|_{\frac{p+3}{p}}|\nabla\psi|_{p+3}\left(|\nabla\psi_{1}|_{p+3}+|\nabla\psi_{2}|_{p+3}\right)|\Delta\psi|_{p+3}\\ \leqslant&C\left(1+|F(\psi_{1})|_{1}^{\frac{p}{p+3}}\right)|\Delta\psi|_{2}\left(|\Delta\psi_{1}|_{2}+|\Delta\psi_{2}|_{2}\right)|\nabla\Delta\psi|_{2}\\ \leqslant&C\left(1+|F(\psi_{1})|_{1}^{\frac{p}{p+3}}\right)|\nabla\psi|_{2}^{\frac{1}{2}}|\nabla\Delta\psi|_{2}^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(|\Delta\psi_{1}|_{2}+|\Delta\psi_{2}|_{2}\right)|\nabla\Delta\psi|_{2}\\ \leqslant&C\left(1+|F(\psi_{1})|_{1}^{\frac{p}{p+3}}\right)|\nabla\psi|_{2}^{\frac{1}{2}}|\nabla\Delta\psi|_{2}^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(|\Delta\psi_{1}|_{2}+|\Delta\psi_{2}|_{2}\right)|\nabla\Delta\psi|_{2}\\ \leqslant&\frac{1}{5}|\nabla\Delta\psi|_{2}^{2}+C\left(1+|F(\psi_{1})|_{1}^{4}\right)\left(|\Delta\psi_{1}|_{2}^{4}+|\Delta\psi_{2}|_{2}^{4}\right)|\nabla\psi|_{2}^{2}. \end{split}$$

We also bound the last four terms on the right hand side of (6.3), which arise from the linear momentum equation. Thanks to Agmon's inequality, we have  $|\nabla \psi|_{\infty}^2 \leq C|\nabla \psi|_2|\nabla \Delta \psi|_2$ , and thus

$$\begin{split} &|2\left\langle (\mathbf{u}_2 \cdot \nabla)\psi, \Delta\psi \right\rangle - 2\left\langle (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla)\psi, \Delta\psi_2 \right\rangle| \\ \leqslant &2|\mathbf{u}_2|_2|\nabla\psi|_{\infty}|\Delta\psi|_2 + 2|\mathbf{u}|_2|\nabla\psi|_{\infty}|\Delta\psi_2|_2 \\ \leqslant &C|\mathbf{u}_2|_2|\nabla\psi|_2|\nabla\Delta\psi|_2 + C|\mathbf{u}|_2|\nabla\psi|_2^{\frac{1}{2}}|\nabla\Delta\psi|_2^{\frac{1}{2}}|\Delta\psi_2|_2 \\ \leqslant &\frac{1}{5}|\nabla\Delta\psi|_2^2 + \frac{\nu}{2}|\nabla\mathbf{u}|_2^2 + C(|\mathbf{u}_2|_2^2 + |\Delta\psi_2|_2^4)|\nabla\psi|_2^2 \end{split}$$

holds. Finally, by Ladyzhenskaja inequality, it follows

$$\begin{split} &|-2\left\langle (\mathbf{u}\cdot\nabla)\mathbf{u}_{1},\mathbf{u}\right\rangle +2\left\langle \mathbf{g},\mathbf{u}\right\rangle |\\ \leqslant &C|\mathbf{u}|_{4}^{2}|\nabla\mathbf{u}_{1}|_{2}+C|\mathbf{g}|_{2}|\nabla\mathbf{u}|_{2}\\ \leqslant &C|\mathbf{u}|_{2}|\nabla\mathbf{u}|_{2}|\nabla\mathbf{u}_{1}|_{2}+C|\mathbf{g}|_{2}|\nabla\mathbf{u}|_{2}\\ \leqslant &\frac{\nu}{2}|\nabla\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2}+C|\nabla\mathbf{u}_{1}|_{2}^{2}|\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2}+C|\mathbf{g}|_{2}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Replacing the above estimates in (6.3), we see that  $\|\mathbf{z}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_0}^2 = |\mathbf{u}(t)|_2^2 + |\nabla \psi(t)|_2^2$  satisfies

(6.5) 
$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|\mathbf{z}\|_{\mathcal{H}_0}^2 + \nu |\nabla \mathbf{u}|_2^2 + |\nabla \Delta \psi|_2^2 \leqslant C|\mathbf{g}|_2^2 + h \|\mathbf{z}\|_{\mathcal{H}_0}^2,$$

where h is given by

$$h \doteq C \left( 1 + |\nabla \mathbf{u}_1|_2^2 + |\nabla \mathbf{u}_2|_2^2 \right) + C \left( 1 + |F(\psi_1)|_1^4 + |F(\psi_2)|_1^4 \right) \left( |\Delta \psi_1|_2^4 + |\Delta \psi_2|_2^4 + |\Delta \psi_2|_{n+3}^2 \right).$$

By the results of the previous section we deduce

$$\int_{\tau}^{t} h(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \leqslant C \left( \overline{A_{t,\tau}}^{6} + (t - \tau) \overline{A_{t,\tau}}^{5} \right)$$

so that Gronwall's lemma finally gives the claimed estimates.

In order to apply the abstract framework described in Section 3, we also need the following higher order continuous dependence estimate.

LEMMA 6.2. Let  $\mathbf{z}_{01}, \mathbf{z}_{02} \in \mathcal{H}_1$  be any pair of initial data so that  $\mu_{0i} \doteq f(\psi_{0i}) - \Delta \psi_{0i} \in L^2(\Omega)$ , i = 1, 2 and let  $\mathbf{g}_1, \mathbf{g}_2 \in L^2_{loc}(-\infty, t; \mathbf{L}^2_{div}(\Omega))$  be any pair of symbols. Then there exists a constant C such that, if  $\mathbf{z}_i(t)$ , i = 1, 2 are the solutions of (1.1)-(1.2) with initial data  $\mathbf{z}_{0i}$  at time  $\tau$  and symbol  $\mathbf{g}_i$ , then the following estimate holds

$$\|\mathbf{z}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2} \leqslant e^{Q(A_{t,\tau},t-\tau)\left(1+\|\mathbf{z}_{01}\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2}+\|\mathbf{z}_{02}\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2}+|\mu_{01}|_{2}^{2}+|\mu_{02}|_{2}^{2}\right)} \left(\|\mathbf{z}_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2}+\int_{\tau}^{t} |\mathbf{g}(s)|_{2}^{2} ds\right),$$

where Q is a nonnegative increasing function of its arguments.

PROOF. We start by multiplying the first equation in (6.1) by  $2A\mathbf{u} = -2\mathbb{P}\Delta\mathbf{u}$ , getting

$$\begin{split} &\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}|\nabla\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2}+2\nu|A\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2} \\ &=-2\left\langle (\mathbf{u}\cdot\nabla)\mathbf{u}_{1},A\mathbf{u}\right\rangle -2\left\langle (\mathbf{u}_{2}\cdot\nabla)\mathbf{u},A\mathbf{u}\right\rangle \\ &-2\left\langle \Delta\psi_{1}\nabla\psi_{1},A\mathbf{u}\right\rangle +2\left\langle \Delta\psi_{2}\nabla\psi_{2},A\mathbf{u}\right\rangle +2\left\langle \mathbf{g},A\mathbf{u}\right\rangle . \end{split}$$

The product of the third equation in (6.1) by  $2\Delta^2\psi$ , after an integration by parts, provides

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dt}} |\Delta\psi|_{2}^{2} + 2|\Delta^{2}\psi|_{2}^{2}$$

$$= -2 \langle \mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla\psi_{1}, \Delta^{2}\psi \rangle - 2 \langle \mathbf{u}_{2} \cdot \nabla\psi, \Delta^{2}\psi \rangle - 2 \langle f'(\psi_{1})\nabla\Delta\psi, \nabla\Delta\psi \rangle$$

$$-2 \langle [f'(\psi_{1}) - f'(\psi_{2})]\nabla\Delta\psi_{2}, \nabla\Delta\psi \rangle - 2 \langle f''(\psi_{1})\nabla\psi\Delta\psi_{1}, \nabla\Delta\psi \rangle$$

$$-2 \langle [f''(\psi_{1}) - f''(\psi_{2})]\nabla\psi_{2}\Delta\psi_{1}, \nabla\Delta\psi \rangle - 2 \langle f''(\psi_{2})\nabla\psi_{2}\Delta\psi, \nabla\Delta\psi \rangle$$

$$-4 \langle f''(\psi_{1})\nabla^{2}\psi_{1}\nabla\psi, \nabla\Delta\psi \rangle - 4 \langle (f''(\psi_{1}) - f''(\psi_{2}))\nabla^{2}\psi_{1}\nabla\psi_{2}, \nabla\Delta\psi \rangle$$

$$-4 \langle f''(\psi_{2})\nabla^{2}\psi\nabla\psi_{2}, \nabla\Delta\psi \rangle - 2 \langle f'''(\psi_{1})\nabla\psi |\nabla\psi_{1}|^{2}, \nabla\Delta\psi \rangle$$

$$-2 \langle f'''(\psi_{1})\nabla\psi_{2}\nabla\psi \cdot (\nabla\psi_{1} + \nabla\psi_{2}), \nabla\Delta\psi \rangle$$

$$-2 \langle [f'''(\psi_{1}) - f'''(\psi_{2})]\nabla\psi_{2}|\nabla\psi_{2}|^{2}, \nabla\Delta\psi \rangle.$$

Adding together the two equations, by Assumption (A.5) we obtain

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left( \|\mathbf{u}\|_{\mathbf{H}_{0,\mathrm{div}}^{1}(\Omega)}^{2} + |\Delta\psi|_{2}^{2} \right) + 2\nu |A\mathbf{u}|_{\mathbf{L}_{\mathrm{div}}^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + 2|\Delta^{2}\psi|_{2}^{2}$$

$$\leq -2 \left\langle (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{u}_{1}, A\mathbf{u} \right\rangle - 2 \left\langle (\mathbf{u}_{2} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{u}, A\mathbf{u} \right\rangle - 2 \left\langle \Delta\psi\nabla\psi_{1}, A\mathbf{u} \right\rangle - 2 \left\langle \Delta\psi_{2}\nabla\psi, A\mathbf{u} \right\rangle$$

$$+ 2 \left\langle \mathbf{g}, A\mathbf{u} \right\rangle - 2 \left\langle \mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla\psi_{1}, \Delta^{2}\psi \right\rangle - 2 \left\langle \mathbf{u}_{2} \cdot \nabla\psi, \Delta^{2}\psi \right\rangle + 4\alpha |\nabla\Delta\psi|_{2}^{2}$$

$$- 2 \left\langle [f'(\psi_{1}) - f'(\psi_{2})]\nabla\Delta\psi_{2}, \nabla\Delta\psi \right\rangle - 2 \left\langle f''(\psi_{1})\nabla\psi\Delta\psi_{1}, \nabla\Delta\psi \right\rangle$$

$$- 2 \left\langle [f''(\psi_{1}) - f''(\psi_{2})]\nabla\psi_{2}\Delta\psi_{1}, \nabla\Delta\psi \right\rangle - 2 \left\langle f''(\psi_{2})\nabla\psi_{2}\Delta\psi, \nabla\Delta\psi \right\rangle$$

$$- 4 \left\langle f''(\psi_{1})\nabla^{2}\psi_{1}\nabla\psi, \nabla\Delta\psi \right\rangle - 4 \left\langle (f''(\psi_{1}) - f''(\psi_{2}))\nabla^{2}\psi_{1}\nabla\psi_{2}, \nabla\Delta\psi \right\rangle$$

$$- 4 \left\langle f''(\psi_{2})\nabla^{2}\psi\nabla\psi_{2}, \nabla\Delta\psi \right\rangle - 2 \left\langle f'''(\psi_{1})\nabla\psi |\nabla\psi_{1}|^{2}, \nabla\Delta\psi \right\rangle$$

$$- 2 \left\langle [f'''(\psi_{1}) - f'''(\psi_{2})]\nabla\psi_{2}|\nabla\psi_{2}|^{2}, \nabla\Delta\psi \right\rangle.$$

We now show that all the eighteen terms on the right hand side of the last inequality can be bounded by

$$h\left(|\nabla \mathbf{u}|_2^2 + |\Delta \psi|_2^2\right)$$
,

where h is an integrable quantity. Standard computations for the Navier-Stokes equation lead to

$$\begin{aligned} &|-2 \left\langle (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u}_{1}, A \mathbf{u} \right\rangle - 2 \left\langle (\mathbf{u}_{2} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u}, A \mathbf{u} \right\rangle| \\ \leqslant & C|\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{\frac{1}{2}} |A \mathbf{u}|_{2}^{\frac{1}{2}} |\nabla \mathbf{u}_{1}|_{2} |A \mathbf{u}|_{2} + C|\mathbf{u}_{2}|_{2}^{\frac{1}{2}} |\nabla \mathbf{u}_{2}|_{2}^{\frac{1}{2}} |\nabla \mathbf{u}|_{2}^{\frac{1}{2}} |A \mathbf{u}|_{2}^{\frac{3}{2}} \\ \leqslant & \frac{\nu}{3} |A \mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2} + C|\nabla \mathbf{u}_{1}|_{2}^{4} |\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2} + C|\mathbf{u}_{2}|_{2}^{2} |\nabla \mathbf{u}_{2}|_{2}^{2} |\nabla \mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

Exploiting Agmon's inequality and the interpolation inequality  $|\phi|_{\infty} \leq C |\phi|_2^{2/3} ||\phi||_{H^3}^{1/3}$  we can bound the following three terms

$$\begin{split} &|-2 \left< \Delta \psi \nabla \psi_{1}, A \mathbf{u} \right> - 2 \left< \Delta \psi_{2} \nabla \psi, A \mathbf{u} \right> + 2 \left< \mathbf{g}, A \mathbf{u} \right>| \\ \leqslant &2[|\Delta \psi|_{\infty}|\nabla \psi_{1}|_{2} + |\Delta \psi_{2}|_{2}|\nabla \psi|_{\infty} + |\mathbf{g}|_{2}]|A \mathbf{u}|_{2} \\ \leqslant &2[|\Delta \psi|_{2}^{\frac{1}{2}}|\Delta^{2}\psi|_{2}^{\frac{1}{2}}|\nabla \psi_{1}|_{2} + |\Delta \psi_{2}|_{2}|\nabla \psi|_{2}^{\frac{2}{3}}|\Delta^{2}\psi|_{2}^{\frac{1}{3}} + |\mathbf{g}|_{2}]|A \mathbf{u}|_{2} \\ \leqslant &\frac{\nu}{3}|A \mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2} + \frac{1}{7}|\Delta^{2}\psi|_{2}^{2} + C|\nabla \psi_{1}|_{2}^{4}|\Delta \psi|_{2}^{2} + C|\Delta \psi_{2}|_{2}^{3}|\nabla \psi|_{2}^{2} + C|\mathbf{g}|_{2}^{2} \end{split}$$

as well as the next two

$$\begin{aligned} & \left| -2 \left\langle \mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla \psi_{1}, \Delta^{2} \psi \right\rangle - 2 \left\langle \mathbf{u}_{2} \cdot \nabla \psi, \Delta^{2} \psi \right\rangle \right| \\ \leqslant & 2 |\mathbf{u}|_{\infty} |\nabla \psi_{1}|_{2} |\Delta^{2} \psi|_{2} + 2 |\mathbf{u}_{2}|_{2} |\nabla \psi|_{\infty} |\Delta^{2} \psi|_{2} \\ \leqslant & C |\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{\frac{1}{2}} |A\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{\frac{1}{2}} |\nabla \psi_{1}|_{2} |\Delta^{2} \psi|_{2} + C |\mathbf{u}_{2}|_{2} |\nabla \psi|_{2}^{\frac{2}{3}} |\Delta^{2} \psi|_{2}^{\frac{4}{3}} \\ \leqslant & \frac{\nu}{3} |A\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2} + \frac{1}{7} |\Delta^{2} \psi|_{2}^{2} + C |\nabla \psi_{1}|_{2}^{4} |\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2} + C |\mathbf{u}_{2}|_{2}^{3} |\nabla \psi|_{2}^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

The terms arising from the double well potential can be treated using similar techniques. By interpolation, we have

$$4\alpha |\nabla \Delta \psi|_2^2 \leqslant \frac{1}{7} |\Delta^2 \psi|_2^2 + C |\Delta \psi|_2^2,$$

while, by (6.4), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} &|-2 \left\langle [f'(\psi_1) - f'(\psi_2)] \nabla \Delta \psi_2, \nabla \Delta \psi \right\rangle| \\ &\leqslant 2|f'(\psi_1) - f'(\psi_2)|_{\frac{p+3}{p+1}} |\nabla \Delta \psi_2|_{p+3} |\nabla \Delta \psi|_{p+3} \\ &\leqslant C \left(1 + |F(\psi_1)|_1^{\frac{p}{p+3}} + |F(\psi_2)|_1^{\frac{p}{p+3}}\right) |\nabla \psi|_2 |\Delta^2 \psi_2|_2 |\Delta^2 \psi|_2 \\ &\leqslant \frac{1}{7} |\Delta^2 \psi|_2^2 + C \left(1 + |F(\psi_1)|_1 + |F(\psi_2)|_1\right)^2 |\Delta^2 \psi_2|_2^2 |\nabla \psi|_2^2. \end{aligned}$$

Using also Korn's inequality, from Assumptions (A.2) and (A.3) we deduce

$$\begin{aligned} & \left| -2 \left\langle f''(\psi_{1}) \nabla \psi \Delta \psi_{1}, \nabla \Delta \psi \right\rangle - 4 \left\langle f''(\psi_{1}) \nabla^{2} \psi_{1} \nabla \psi, \nabla \Delta \psi \right\rangle \right| \\ & \leqslant C |f''(\psi_{1})|_{\frac{p+3}{p}} |\nabla \psi|_{p+3} |\Delta \psi_{1}|_{p+3} |\nabla \Delta \psi|_{p+3} \\ & \leqslant C (1 + |F(\psi_{1})|_{1}^{\frac{p}{p+3}}) |\Delta \psi|_{2} |\Delta \psi_{1}|_{p+3} |\Delta^{2} \psi|_{2} \\ & \leqslant \frac{1}{7} |\Delta^{2} \psi|_{2} + C \left( 1 + |F(\psi_{1})|_{1} \right)^{2} |\Delta \psi_{1}|_{p+3}^{2} |\Delta \psi|_{2}^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

Arguing as in the proof of Lemma 6.1, namely, exploiting (6.4) for the first two terms, and Assumptions (A.2) and (A.3) for the second two, as well as Korn's inequality again, we obtain

$$\begin{split} & \left| -2 \left\langle [f''(\psi_1) - f''(\psi_2)] \nabla \psi_2 \Delta \psi_1, \nabla \Delta \psi \right\rangle - 4 \left\langle (f''(\psi_1) - f''(\psi_2)) \nabla^2 \psi_1 \nabla \psi_2, \nabla \Delta \psi \right\rangle \\ & - 2 \left\langle f''(\psi_2) \nabla \psi_2 \Delta \psi, \nabla \Delta \psi \right\rangle - 4 \left\langle f''(\psi_2) \nabla^2 \psi \nabla \psi_2, \nabla \Delta \psi \right\rangle \right| \\ \leqslant & C \left( 1 + |F(\psi_1)|_1^{\frac{p-1}{p+3}} + |F(\psi_2)|_1^{\frac{p-1}{p+3}} \right) |\Delta \psi_2|_2 |\Delta \psi_1|_{p+3} |\nabla \psi|_2 |\Delta^2 \psi|_2 \\ & + C \left( 1 + |F(\psi_2)|_1^{\frac{p}{p+3}} \right) |\Delta \psi_2|_2 |\nabla \Delta \psi|_2 |\Delta^2 \psi|_2 \\ \leqslant & \frac{1}{7} |\Delta^2 \psi|_2^2 + C \left( 1 + |F(\psi_1)|_1^2 + |F(\psi_2)|_1^2 \right) |\Delta \psi_2|_2^2 |\Delta \psi_1|_{p+3}^2 |\nabla \psi|_2^2 \\ & + C \left( 1 + |F(\psi_2)|_1^4 \right) |\Delta \psi_2|_2^4 |\Delta \psi|_2^2. \end{split}$$

We are left to consider

$$(6.6) \quad \left| -2 \left\langle f'''(\psi_{1}) \nabla \psi_{1} |^{2}, \nabla \Delta \psi \right\rangle - 2 \left\langle f'''(\psi_{1}) \nabla \psi_{2} \nabla \psi \cdot (\nabla \psi_{1} + \nabla \psi_{2}), \nabla \Delta \psi \right\rangle \\ - 2 \left\langle [f'''(\psi_{1}) - f'''(\psi_{2})] \nabla \psi_{2} | \nabla \psi_{2} |^{2}, \nabla \Delta \psi \right\rangle \right| \\ \leqslant C (1 + |F(\psi_{1})|_{1}^{\frac{p-1}{p+3}}) (|\Delta \psi_{1}|_{2}^{2} + |\Delta \psi_{1}|_{2} ||\Delta \psi_{2}|_{2} + |\Delta \psi_{2}|_{2}^{2}) |\Delta \psi_{1}|_{2} |\Delta^{2} \psi_{1}|_{2} \\ + C \left( 1 + |F(\psi_{1})|_{1}^{\frac{p-2}{p+3}} + |F(\psi_{2})|_{1}^{\frac{p-2}{p+3}} \right) |\Delta \psi_{2}|_{2}^{3} |\nabla \psi_{1}|_{2} |\Delta^{2} \psi_{1}|_{2} \\ \leqslant \frac{1}{7} |\Delta^{2} \psi|_{2}^{2} + C (1 + |F(\psi_{1})|_{1}^{2}) (|\Delta \psi_{1}|_{2}^{4} + |\Delta \psi_{2}|_{2}^{4}) |\Delta \psi|_{2}^{2} \\ + C \left( 1 + |F(\psi_{1})|_{1}^{2} + |F(\psi_{2})|_{1}^{2} \right) |\Delta \psi_{2}|_{2}^{6} |\nabla \psi|_{2}^{2}.$$

Remark 6.3. In the case  $p \in [1,2)$ , under the assumption  $f^{(iv)}(y)$  bounded for  $y \in \mathbb{R}$  we can still derive the estimate for the term

$$\left\langle |f'''(\psi_1) - f'''(\psi_2)|\nabla \psi_2|\nabla \psi_2|^2, \nabla \Delta \psi \right\rangle \leqslant C|\nabla \psi|_2 |\Delta \psi_2|_2^3 |\nabla \Delta \psi|_{p+3},$$

which gives the same result as above.

From the above inequalities, collecting terms we obtain

$$\begin{split} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left( |\nabla \mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2} + |\Delta\psi|_{2}^{2} \right) + \nu |A\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2} + |\Delta^{2}\psi|_{2}^{2} \\ \leqslant C |\mathbf{g}|_{2}^{2} + C \left( |\nabla\psi_{1}|_{2}^{4} + |\nabla\mathbf{u}_{1}|_{2}^{4} + |\mathbf{u}_{2}|_{2}^{2} |\nabla\mathbf{u}_{2}|_{2}^{2} \right) |\nabla\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{2} \\ + C \left( |\mathbf{u}_{2}|_{2}^{3} + |\Delta\psi_{2}|_{2}^{3} + \left(1 + |F(\psi_{1})|_{1}^{2} + |F(\psi_{2})|_{1}^{2} \right) \right. \\ \cdot \left. \left( |\Delta^{2}\psi_{2}|_{2}^{2} + |\Delta\psi_{2}|_{2}^{6} + |\Delta\psi_{2}|_{2}^{2} |\Delta\psi_{1}|_{p+3}^{2} \right) \right) |\nabla\psi|_{2}^{2} \\ + C \left( 1 + |\nabla\psi_{1}|_{2}^{4} + \left(1 + |F(\psi_{1})|_{1}^{2} \right) \left( |\Delta\psi_{1}|_{2}^{4} + |\Delta\psi_{2}|_{2}^{4} + |\Delta\psi_{1}|_{p+3}^{2} \right) \\ + \left. \left( 1 + |F(\psi_{2})|_{1}^{4} \right) |\Delta\psi_{2}|_{2}^{4} \right) |\Delta\psi|_{2}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Denoting by

$$h = C \left( 1 + |\nabla \psi_1|_2^4 + |\mathbf{u}_2|_2^3 + |\nabla \mathbf{u}_1|_2^4 + |\mathbf{u}_2|_2^2 |\nabla \mathbf{u}_2|_2^2 + |\Delta \psi_2|_2^3 \right)$$

$$+ \left( 1 + |F(\psi_1)|_1^2 + |F(\psi_2)|_2^2 \right) \left( |\Delta^2 \psi_2|_2^2 + |\Delta \psi_2|_2^6 + |\Delta \psi_2|_2^2 |\Delta \psi_1|_{p+3}^2 \right)$$

$$+ \left( 1 + |F(\psi_1)|_1^2 \right) \left( |\Delta \psi_1|_2^4 + |\Delta \psi_2|_2^4 + |\Delta \psi_1|_{p+3}^2 \right) + \left( 1 + |F(\psi_2)|_1^4 \right) |\Delta \psi_2|_2^4 \right),$$

the above differential inequality reads as

(6.7) 
$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|\mathbf{z}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2 \leqslant h(t) \|\mathbf{z}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2 + C|\mathbf{g}(t)|_2^2$$

and depends on p only through the constants C included in the definition of h. Therefore, the estimate obtained by Gronwall's lemma below has the structure

$$\|\mathbf{z}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2} \leqslant e^{Q(\overline{A_{t,\tau}},t-\tau)\left(1+\|\mathbf{z}_{01}\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2}+\|\mathbf{z}_{02}\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2}+|\mu_{01}|_{2}^{2}+|\mu_{02}|_{2}^{2}\right)} \left(\|\mathbf{z}_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2}+\int_{\tau}^{t} |\mathbf{g}(s)|_{2}^{2} ds\right)$$

where, for any potential F satisfying the assumptions (A.1)–(A.7), the function Q depends on  $\overline{A_{t,\tau}}$  only through some of its powers, which, in particular, do not depend on the growth exponent p of F.

#### 7. Time regularity

In this section we evaluate the distance in  $\mathcal{H}_0$  between the solution and the initial datum in terms of the time span (Lemma 7.1), and we show a smoothing property for difference of solutions (Lemma 7.2). This will be crucial to show that Assumptions (H.1) and (H.3) in Theorems 3.3 and 3.4 hold true for system (1.1).

LEMMA 7.1. Given any symbol  $\mathbf{g}$  satisfying (B.1) and (B.2), there exists a positive constant C such that the solution  $\mathbf{z}(t)$ , departing at time  $\tau$  from an arbitrary initial datum  $\mathbf{z}_0 \in \mathcal{H}_1$ , so that  $\mu_0 \in L^2(\Omega)$  satisfies

$$\|\mathbf{z}(t) - \mathbf{z}_0\|_{\mathcal{H}_0}^2 \\ \leq \sqrt{t - \tau} \left( \|\mathbf{z}_0\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2 + |\mu_0|_2^2 + A_{t,\tau}^3 + (t - \tau)A_{t,\tau} \right) \\ \cdot \left( A_{t,\tau}^8 + (t - \tau)A_{t,\tau}^7 \right) e^{C\left(A_{t,\tau}^4 + (t - \tau)A_{t,\tau}^3\right)},$$

for  $\tau \leqslant t \leqslant t_0$ .

PROOF. The different features of the Navier-Stokes and the Cahn-Hilliard equations force to handle separately the two variables. We preliminarily observe

that, denoting the solution and the initial datum as  $\mathbf{z}(t) = (\mathbf{u}(t), \psi(t))$  and  $\mathbf{z}_0 = (\mathbf{u}_0, \psi_0)$ , respectively,

$$|\mathbf{u}(t) - \mathbf{u}_0|_2 \leqslant \int_{\tau}^{t} |\partial_t \mathbf{u}(s)|_2 \, \mathrm{d}s \leqslant \sqrt{t - \tau} \|\partial_t \mathbf{u}\|_{L^2(\tau, t; \mathbf{L}^2_{\mathrm{div}}(\Omega))},$$

meaning that we only need to properly bound the last norm. The product of the first equation in (1.1) by  $2\partial_t \mathbf{u}$  gives

(7.1) 
$$\nu \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} |\nabla \mathbf{u}|_2^2 + 2|\partial_t \mathbf{u}|_2^2 = -2 \langle \mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla \rangle \mathbf{u}, \partial_t \mathbf{u} \rangle + 2 \langle \mu \nabla \psi, \partial_t \mathbf{u} \rangle + 2 \langle \mathbf{g}, \partial_t \mathbf{u} \rangle.$$

Here, having observed that

$$|2\langle \mu \nabla \psi, \partial_t \mathbf{u} \rangle| = |2\langle \psi \nabla \mu, \partial_t \mathbf{u} \rangle| \leq 2|\nabla \mu|_2 |\psi|_{\infty} |\partial_t \mathbf{u}|_2 \leq C|\nabla \mu|_2 |\psi|_2^{\frac{1}{2}} |\Delta \psi|_2^{\frac{1}{2}} |\partial_t \mathbf{u}|_2,$$

the right hand side can be controlled as

$$\begin{aligned} &|-2\langle(\mathbf{u}\cdot\nabla)\mathbf{u},\partial_t\mathbf{u}\rangle + 2\langle\mu\nabla\psi,\partial_t\mathbf{u}\rangle + 2\langle\mathbf{g},\partial_t\mathbf{u}\rangle|\\ &\leq &|\partial_t\mathbf{u}|_2^2 + C|\mathbf{u}|_2|\nabla\mathbf{u}|_2^2|\mathbf{u}|_{\mathbf{H}_0^2,\mathrm{loc}(\Omega)} + C|\nabla\mu|_2^2|\psi|_2|\Delta\psi|_2 + C|\mathbf{g}|_2^2.\end{aligned}$$

Replacing this estimate in the differential equality above, we have

$$\nu \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} |\nabla \mathbf{u}|_2^2 + |\partial_t \mathbf{u}|_2^2 \leqslant C \left( |\mathbf{u}|_2 |\nabla \mathbf{u}|_2^2 |\mathbf{u}|_{\mathbf{H}_{0,\mathrm{div}}^2(\Omega)}^2 + |\nabla \mu|_2^2 |\psi|_2 |\Delta \psi|_2 + |\mathbf{g}|_2^2 \right),$$

thus, integrating in time over  $(\tau, t)$ , thanks to Lemmas 4.3 and 5.8, we deduce

$$\int_{\tau}^{t} |\partial_{t} \mathbf{u}(s)|_{2}^{2} ds$$

$$\leq \left(\nu |\nabla \mathbf{u}(\tau)|_{2}^{2} + C \int_{\tau}^{t} |\mathbf{g}(s)|_{2}^{2} ds$$

$$+ C \int_{\tau}^{t} [|\nabla \mu(s)|_{2}^{2} ||\psi(s)||_{H^{1}} ||\psi(s)||_{H^{2}} + |\mathbf{u}(s)|_{2}^{2} |\mathbf{u}(s)|_{\mathbf{H}_{0,\operatorname{div}}(\Omega)}^{2}] ds\right)$$

$$\leq C A_{t,\tau} \left( ||\mathbf{z}(\tau)||_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2} + |\mu(\tau)|_{2}^{2} + A_{t,\tau}^{3} + (t - \tau) A_{t,\tau} \right)$$

$$\cdot \left( A_{t,\tau}^{7} + (t - \tau) A_{t,\tau}^{6} \right) e^{C \left( A_{t,\tau}^{4} + (t - \tau) A_{t,\tau}^{3} \right)},$$

which provides the desired estimate. We now turn our attention to the order parameter. By interpolation, exploiting (5.11) and Lemma 5.8 again, we obtain

$$\|\psi(t,\tau) - \psi_0\|_{H^1(\Omega)}^2 \le \|\psi(t,\tau) - \psi_0\|_{H^1(\Omega)}$$

$$\le \|\psi(t,\tau) - \psi_0\|_2 \|\psi(t,\tau) - \psi_0\|_{H^2(\Omega)}$$

$$\le C\sqrt{t-\tau} \left( \int_{\tau}^t |\partial_t \psi(s,\tau)|_2^2 \, \mathrm{d}s \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \sup_{s \in [\tau,t]} \|\psi(s)\|_{H^2(\Omega)}$$

$$\le C\sqrt{t-\tau} \left( \|\mathbf{z}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2 + |\mu(\tau)|_2^2 + A_{t,\tau}^3 + (t-\tau)A_{t,\tau} \right)$$

$$\cdot \left( A_{t,\tau}^5 + (t-\tau)A_{t,\tau}^4 \right) e^{C\left(A_{t,\tau}^4 + (t-\tau)A_{t,\tau}^3\right)}.$$

The following smoothing property is crucial to show that our problem fits in the theoretical setting of [22], which was presented in Section 3.

LEMMA 7.2. There exists a positive function  $Q(\cdot, \cdot)$ , increasing in both arguments, such that, given a pair of symbols  $\mathbf{g_1}, \mathbf{g_2}$  satisfying (B.1) and (B.2) and any pair of initial data  $\mathbf{z_{01}}, \mathbf{z_{02}} \in \mathcal{H}_1$  so that  $\mu_{0i} \in L^2(\Omega)$ , i = 1, 2, there holds

$$(t-\tau)\|\mathbf{z}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2$$

$$\leqslant \left( \|\mathbf{z}_0\|_{\mathcal{H}_0}^2 + C(1+t-\tau) \int_{\tau}^{t} |\mathbf{g}(s)|_2^2 \, \mathrm{d}s \right) e^{Q(\overline{A_{t,\tau}},t-\tau) \left(1 + \|\mathbf{z}_{01}\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2 + \|\mathbf{z}_{02}\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2 + |\mu_{01}|_2^2 + |\mu_{02}|_2^2 \right)}$$

where  $\mathbf{z}_i(t)$  stands for the solution to problem (1.1)-(1.2) corresponding to symbol  $\mathbf{g}_i$  originating at time  $\tau$  from the initial datum  $\mathbf{z}_{i0}$ .

PROOF. Multiplying (6.7) by  $(t-\tau)$ , we obtain the differential inequality

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dt}} ((t-\tau) \|\mathbf{z}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2) 
\leq \|\mathbf{z}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2 + C(t-\tau) |\mathbf{g}(t)|_2^2 + h(t)(t-\tau) \|\mathbf{z}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2,$$

where the function h is given as in the proof of Lemma 6.2. By the second estimate in Lemma 6.1, we deduce

$$\int_{\tau}^{t} \|\mathbf{z}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2} ds 
\leq C \left( \|\mathbf{z}_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}_{0}}^{2} + \int_{\tau}^{t} |\mathbf{g}(s)|_{2}^{2} ds \right) \left( \overline{A_{t,\tau}}^{6} + (t-\tau) \overline{A_{t,\tau}}^{5} \right) e^{C\left(\overline{A_{t,\tau}}^{6} + (t-\tau) \overline{A_{t,\tau}}^{5}\right)},$$

while the integral of h can be bounded as in Lemma 6.2. Thus, the Gronwall's lemma entails

$$(t-\tau) \|\mathbf{z}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2}$$

$$\leq C \left( \|\mathbf{z}_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}_{0}}^{2} + (1+t-\tau) \int_{\tau}^{t} |\mathbf{g}(s)|_{2}^{2} \, \mathrm{d}s \right) \left( \overline{A_{t,\tau}}^{6} + (t-\tau) \overline{A_{t,\tau}}^{5} \right) e^{C\left(\overline{A_{t,\tau}}^{6} + (t-\tau)\overline{A_{t,\tau}}^{5}\right)}$$

$$e^{Q(\overline{A_{t,\tau}},t-\tau)\left(1+\|\mathbf{z}_{01}\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2} + \|\mathbf{z}_{02}\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2} + |\mu_{01}|_{2}^{2} + |\mu_{02}|_{2}^{2}\right)},$$

which is the desired estimate.

#### 8. Proof of the main results

In this section we show how, properly choosing the spaces and the operators, relying on the results of previous sections, we can apply Theorem 3.3, and subsequently Theorem 3.4, to our system so to prove Theorem 2.4 and Corollary 2.5.

Let V and H be the spaces  $\mathcal{H}_1$  and  $\mathcal{H}_0$  respectively. Observe that, whenever the symbol  $\mathbf{g}$  satisfies assumptions (B.1) and (B.2), thanks to Theorem 4.2 and Lemma 6.1 the solution operator associated to system (1.1)-(1.2) is well-defined and continuous on H. Moreover, thanks to Corollary 5.9, in studying the asymptotic behavior of solutions of (1.1)-(1.2) we can further restrict our attention to the bounded subset of V given by

$$B \doteq \{ \mathbf{z} \in V \mid \|\mathbf{z}\|_{\mathcal{H}_1} + |\mu|_2 \leqslant C_{\mathbf{g}}(t_0) \},$$

which is uniformly (w.r.t. the diameter of the set of initial data) absorbing for the solutions of (1.1)-(1.2). Since the constraint  $|\mu|_2 = |f(\psi) - \Delta \psi|_2 \leq C$  is closed w.r.t. the topology of V, we can further focus our attention to the set

$$\mathcal{O}^{\mu}_{\delta}(B) \doteq \mathcal{O}_{\delta}(B) \cap \{|\mu|_2 \leqslant C_{\mathbf{g}}(t_0)\}$$

when discussing the exponential decay of solution towards an exponential pullback attractor.

REMARK 8.1. Differently from other similar results in the literature (cf. [2] and [23]) we consider only  $\mu \in L^2(\Omega)$  in our definition on the bounded sets in the phase space. This differs from the usual assumption requiring  $\mu \in H^1(\Omega)$ .

Let  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$  be given and let  $\mathbf{g}$  satisfy (B.1) and (B.3) (so that (B.2) holds true as well for  $t \leqslant t_0$ , which is enough for our purpose), we denote by  $U_{\mathbf{g}}(t,\tau)$  the solution operator to problem (1.1)-(1.2) at time  $t \geqslant \tau$  with symbol  $\mathbf{g}$  and initial data in V. Thanks to Lemmata 5.8 and 6.2 the process  $U_{\mathbf{g}}(t,\tau) \colon V \to V$  is well-defined and continuous on  $\mathcal{O}^{\mu}_{\delta}$ . Therefore, if  $t_0$  is the time appearing in assumption (B.3), the restricted family  $\{U_{\mathbf{g}}(t,\tau) \colon \tau \leqslant t \leqslant t_0\}$  belongs to the class  $\mathcal{U}(V,t_0)$ . Since the set  $\mathcal{O}^{\mu}_{\delta}$  is uniformly absorbing for the family  $\{U_{\mathbf{g}}(t,\tau)\}$ , fixing  $\delta=1$  and the time span

$$\tau_0 \doteq 5 + T\left(|\mathcal{O}_1^{\mu}(B)|\right),\,$$

we deduce by Corollary 5.9 and Lemma 7.2 that  $U_{\mathbf{g}}(t, t - \tau_0) \in \mathbb{S}_{1,L}(B)$ , where the constant L depends increasingly on  $\tau_0$ ,  $C_{\mathbf{g}}(t_0)$  and  $M_{\mathbf{g}}(t_0)$ .

In this framework we can now verify assumptions (H.1)–(H.3) for system (1.1)–(1.2). Indeed, (H.2) is a straightforward consequence of Lemma 6.2. The coupling between the Navier-Stokes and the convective Cahn-Hilliard equations makes more involved the validation of assumptions (H.1) and (H.3). In order to avoid further requirements over the symbols but (B.3), we exploit Lemma 7.1 and interpolation, thanks to a smoothing in the solution. The technical details of our argument are contained in the following lemma.

LEMMA 8.2. Assume that  $\mathbf{g}$  satisfies (B.1) and (B.3). Then there exists a positive constant C depending on the exponent q in (B.3) such that, for any initial datum  $\mathbf{z}_0 \in \mathcal{O}_1^{\mu}(B)$ , the solution  $\mathbf{z}(t) = (\mathbf{u}(t), \psi(t)) = U_{\mathbf{g}}(t, \tau)\mathbf{z}_0$  satisfies

(8.1) 
$$\|\mathbf{u}(t)\|_{\mathbf{H}_{0,\operatorname{div}}^{\frac{2q-2}{q}}(\Omega)} + \|\psi(t)\|_{H^{3}} \leqslant C,$$

for any  $t \leq t_0 - 1$  and  $\tau \leq t - 1 - \tau_0$ .

PROOF. In this proof, we consider the two equations separately: first, as in [22], we apply the Giga-Sohr argument (see [17]) to the equation

$$\partial_t \mathbf{u} - \nu \mathbb{P} \Delta \mathbf{u} = \mathbf{h},$$

where

$$\mathbf{h} \doteq -\mathbb{P}\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{u} + \mathbb{P}\mu \nabla \psi + \mathbf{g}.$$

By Hölder's and Gagliardo-Nirenberg's inequalities, we obtain

$$|\mathbf{u}\cdot\nabla\mathbf{u}|_2\leqslant C|\mathbf{u}|_q|\nabla\mathbf{u}|_{\frac{2q}{q-2}}\leqslant C|\nabla\mathbf{u}|_2^{\frac{2(q-1)}{q}}|\Delta\mathbf{u}|_2^{\frac{2}{q}}.$$

Moreover, recalling that  $f(\psi)\nabla\psi\in\mathbf{L}^2(\Omega)$  and  $f(\psi)\nabla\psi\in\mathbf{L}^2_{\mathrm{div}}(\Omega)^{\perp}$ 

$$|\mathbb{P}\mu\nabla\psi|_2\leqslant |\Delta\psi\nabla\psi|_2\leqslant C|\Delta\psi|_2^{\frac{2(q-1)}{q}}|\Delta^2\psi|_2^{\frac{2}{q}},$$

(actually this estimate is not optimal but, due to the previous estimates of the velocity field above, this does not have any influence on the final outcome) then Corollary 5.9 and assumption (B.3) ensure

$$\int_{t-2}^{t} |\mathbf{h}(s)|_{2}^{q} ds \leqslant Q(M_{\mathbf{g},q}(t_{0})), \qquad \tau \leqslant t - 6 - T(|\mathcal{O}_{1}^{\mu}(B)|) = t - 1 - \tau_{0},$$

which is identical to [22, Equation (84)]. From this estimate, arguing as in [22] we deduce the bound on  ${\bf u}$ 

$$\|\mathbf{u}(t)\|_{\mathbf{H}_{0,\frac{q}{\mathrm{dirg}}}(\Omega)} \leq Q(M_{\mathbf{g},q}(t_0)),$$

which is the first part of (8.1).

We now turn our attention to the Cahn-Hilliard equation. The product of the third equation in (1.1) by  $-2\Delta \partial_t \psi$  leads to

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} |\nabla \Delta \psi|_{2}^{2} + 2|\nabla \partial_{t} \psi|_{2}^{2}$$

$$= -2 \langle \mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla \partial_{t} \psi, \Delta \psi \rangle + 2 \langle f'(\psi) \nabla \Delta \psi, \nabla \partial_{t} \psi \rangle + 2 \langle f''(\psi) \nabla \psi \Delta \psi, \nabla \partial_{t} \psi \rangle$$

$$+ 4 \langle f''(\psi) \nabla \psi \nabla^{2} \psi, \nabla \partial_{t} \psi \rangle + 2 \langle f'''(\psi) \nabla \psi |\nabla \psi|^{2}, \nabla \partial_{t} \psi \rangle.$$

By Ladyzhenskaja inequality and interpolation, the first term on the right hand side can be controlled as

$$\begin{aligned} &|-2\left\langle\mathbf{u}\cdot\nabla\partial_{t}\psi,\Delta\psi\right\rangle|\\ \leqslant &2|\mathbf{u}|_{4}|\Delta\psi|_{4}|\nabla\partial_{t}\psi|_{2}\\ \leqslant &C|\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{\frac{1}{2}}|\nabla\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{\frac{1}{2}}|\Delta\psi|_{2}^{\frac{3}{4}}|\Delta^{2}\psi|_{2}^{\frac{1}{4}}|\nabla\partial_{t}\psi|_{2}\\ \leqslant &\frac{1}{4}|\nabla\partial_{t}\psi|_{2}^{2}+|\Delta^{2}\psi|_{2}^{2}+C|\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{\frac{4}{3}}|\nabla\mathbf{u}|_{2}^{\frac{4}{3}}|\Delta\psi|_{2}^{2} \end{aligned}$$

and, similarly, the second one is

$$|2 \langle f'(\psi) \nabla \Delta \psi, \nabla \partial_t \psi \rangle|$$

$$\leq 2|f'(\psi)|_4 |\nabla \Delta \psi|_4 |\nabla \partial_t \psi|_2$$

$$\leq C|f'(\psi)|_4 |\Delta \psi|_2^{\frac{1}{4}} |\Delta^2 \psi|_2^{\frac{3}{4}} |\nabla \partial_t \psi|_2$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{4} |\nabla \partial_t \psi|_2 + |\Delta^2 \psi|_2^2 + C|f'(\psi)|_4^8 |\Delta \psi|_2^4.$$

Taking advantage also of Agmon's and Korn's inequalities, we compute

$$\begin{aligned} & \left| 2 \left\langle f''(\psi) \nabla \psi \Delta \psi, \nabla \partial_t \psi \right\rangle + 4 \left\langle f''(\psi) \nabla \psi \nabla^2 \psi, \nabla \partial_t \psi \right\rangle \right| \\ \leqslant & 2 |f''(\psi)|_4 |\nabla \psi|_\infty |\Delta \psi|_4 |\nabla \partial_t \psi|_2 + 4 |f''(\psi)|_4 |\nabla \psi|_\infty |\nabla^2 \psi|_4 |\nabla \partial_t \psi|_2 \\ \leqslant & C |f''(\psi)|_4 |\nabla \psi|_2^{\frac{1}{2}} |\nabla \Delta \psi|_2^{\frac{1}{2}} |\Delta \psi|_2^{\frac{1}{2}} |\nabla \Delta \psi|_2^{\frac{1}{2}} |\nabla \partial_t \psi|_2 \\ \leqslant & C |f''(\psi)|_4 |\nabla \psi|_2^{\frac{1}{2}} |\Delta \psi|_2 |\Delta^2 \psi|_2^{\frac{1}{2}} |\nabla \partial_t \psi|_2 \\ \leqslant & \frac{1}{4} |\nabla \partial_t \psi|_2^2 + |\Delta^2 \psi|_2^2 + C |f''(\psi)|_4^4 |\nabla \psi|_2^2 |\Delta \psi|_2^4. \end{aligned}$$

Finally,

$$\begin{split} & \left| 2 \left\langle f'''(\psi) \nabla \psi | \nabla \psi |^2, \nabla \partial_t \psi \right\rangle \right| \\ \leqslant & C |f'''(\psi)|_4 |\Delta \psi|_2^3 |\nabla \partial_t \psi|_2 \leqslant \frac{1}{4} |\nabla \partial_t \psi|_2^2 + C |f'''(\psi)|_4^2 |\Delta \psi|_2^6. \end{split}$$

Collecting the above estimates, we obtain

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}|\nabla\Delta\psi|_2^2 \leqslant h,$$

where

$$h = C\left(|\Delta^2 \psi|_2^2 + |f'(\psi)|_4^8 |\Delta \psi|_2^4 \right)$$
$$|\mathbf{u}|_2^{\frac{4}{3}} |\nabla \mathbf{u}|_2^{\frac{4}{3}} |\Delta \psi|_2^2 + |f''(\psi)|_4^4 |\nabla \psi|_2^2 |\Delta \psi|_2^4 + |f'''(\psi)|_4^2 |\Delta \psi|_2^6\right).$$

Having observed that by Assumption (A.6) we have

$$|f'(\psi)|_4 + |f''(\psi)|_4 + |f'''(\psi)|_4 \le |f(\psi)|_4$$

then Corollary 5.9 provides

$$\int_{t-1}^{t} h(s) ds \leqslant Q(M_{\mathbf{g}}(t_0)), \quad \tau \leqslant t - 5 - T(|\mathcal{O}_1^{\mu}(B)|),$$

by the Uniform Gronwall's lemma, we deduce

$$|\nabla \Delta \psi(t)|_2^2 \leqslant Q(M_{\mathbf{g}}(t_0)) \quad t \geqslant \tau + 5 + T(|\mathcal{O}_1^{\mu}(B)|).$$

We can now show that (H.1) holds true. Having fixed **g** satisfying (B.1) and (B.3), we denote by C a generic positive constant depending only on  $M_{\mathbf{g},q}(t_0)$ . Then we observe that by Corollary 5.9 there holds

$$\sup_{\mathbf{z}_0 \in \mathcal{O}_1^{\mu}(B)} \|U_{\mathbf{g}}(t,\tau)\mathbf{z}_0\|_{\mathcal{H}_1} \leqslant C$$

for  $t \leq t_0$  and  $\tau \leq t - \tau_0$ . Besides, Corollary 4.5 entails

(8.3) 
$$A_{t,\tau} \leqslant C, \qquad t \leqslant t_0, \quad \tau \leqslant t - \tau_0, \quad \forall \mathbf{z}_0 \in \mathcal{O}_1^{\mu}(B).$$

Therefore, arguing as in Lemma 7.1, for any initial datum  $\mathbf{z}_0 \in \mathcal{O}_1^{\mu}(B)$ , we have

(8.4) 
$$||U_{\mathbf{g}}(t,\tau)\mathbf{z}_0 - U_{\mathbf{g}}(t-s,\tau)\mathbf{z}_0||_{\mathcal{H}_0} \leqslant C\sqrt{s},$$

for  $t \leqslant t_0 - 1$ ,  $0 \leqslant s \leqslant 1$  and  $\tau \leqslant t - \tau_0$ . To proceed in our argument, we need to consider the two variable separately: thus, for any initial datum  $\mathbf{z}_0 \in \mathcal{O}_1^{\mu}(B)$ , we set  $(\mathbf{u}(t,\tau),\psi(t,\tau)) = U_{\mathbf{g}}(t,\tau)\mathbf{z}_0$ . Provided that  $t \leqslant t_0 - 1$ ,  $0 \leqslant s \leqslant 1$ ,  $\tau_0 \leqslant r \leqslant 2\tau_0$ , by interpolation and Lemma 8.2, we have

$$\begin{split} &\|\mathbf{u}(t,t-r)-\mathbf{u}(t-s,t-s-r)\|_{\mathbf{H}_{0,\operatorname{div}}^1(\Omega)} \\ \leqslant &C\|\mathbf{u}(t,t-r)-\mathbf{u}(t-s,t-s-r)\|_{\mathbf{L}_{\operatorname{div}}^{\frac{q-2}{2q-2}}}^{\frac{q-2}{2q-2}} \\ &\cdot\|\mathbf{u}(t,t-r)-\mathbf{u}(t-s,t-s-r)\|_{\frac{2q-2}{q}}^{\frac{q-2}{2q-2}} \\ &\leqslant &C\|\mathbf{u}(t,t-r)-\mathbf{u}(t-s,t-s-r)\|_{\mathbf{L}_{\operatorname{div}}^{\frac{q-2}{2q-2}}(\Omega)}^{\frac{q-2}{2q-2}}, \end{split}$$

as well as

$$\|\psi(t,t-r) - \psi(t-s,t-s-r)\|_{H^{2}(\Omega)}$$

$$\leq C\|\psi(t,t-r) - \psi(t-s,t-s-r)\|_{H^{1}(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{2}}\|\psi(t,t-r) - \psi(t-s,t-s-r)\|_{H^{3}(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$\leq C\|\psi(t,t-r) - \psi(t-s,t-s-r)\|_{H^{1}(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Thus we are left to control a  $\mathcal{H}_0$ -norm which can be split into two parts as

$$\begin{split} & \|U_{\mathbf{g}}(t,t-r)\mathbf{z}_0 - U_{\mathbf{g}}(t-s,t-s-r)\mathbf{z}_0\|_{\mathcal{H}_0} \\ \leqslant & \|U_{\mathbf{g}}(t,t-r)\mathbf{z}_0 - U_{\mathbf{g}}(t-s,t-r)\mathbf{z}_0\|_{\mathcal{H}_0} \\ & + \|U_{\mathbf{g}}(t-s,t-r)\mathbf{z}_0 - U_{\mathbf{g}}(t-s,t-s-r)\mathbf{z}_0\|_{\mathcal{H}_0} \\ \leqslant & C\sqrt{s} + \|U_{\mathbf{g}}(t-s,t-r)\mathbf{z}_0 - U_{\mathbf{g}}(t-s,t-s-r)\mathbf{z}_0\|_{\mathcal{H}_0}, \end{split}$$

thanks to (8.4). In order to control the last term, we observe that, by (4.7) with initial datum  $U_{\mathbf{g}}(t-r,t-s-r)\mathbf{z}_0$ , it follows

$$A_{t-s,t-r} = \left(1 + \|\mathbf{z}(t-r,t-s-r)\|_{\mathcal{H}_0}^2 + 2|F(\psi(t-r,t-s-r))|_1 + \int_{t-r}^{t-s} |\mathbf{g}(s)|_2^2 \, \mathrm{d}s\right)$$

$$\leq C \left((1 + \|\mathbf{z}_0\|_{\mathcal{H}_0}^2 + 2|F(\psi_0)|_1)e^{-Cs} + M_{\mathbf{g}}(t_0)\right)$$

$$\leq C(1 + M_{\mathbf{g}}(t_0)).$$

Exploiting Lemma 6.1 with  $\mathbf{z}_1 = \mathbf{z}_0$  and  $\mathbf{z}_2 = U_{\mathbf{g}}(t-s, t-s-r)\mathbf{z}_0$  together with  $\tau_0 \leqslant r \leqslant 2\tau_0$  and (8.3), the desired norm can be written as

$$||U_{\mathbf{g}}(t-s,t-r)\mathbf{z}_{0} - U_{\mathbf{g}}(t-s,t-s-r)\mathbf{z}_{0}||_{\mathcal{H}_{0}}$$

$$= ||U_{\mathbf{g}}(t-s,t-r)\mathbf{z}_{0} - U_{\mathbf{g}}(t-s,t-r)U_{\mathbf{g}}(t-r,t-s-r)\mathbf{z}_{0}||_{\mathcal{H}_{0}}$$

$$\leq C||\mathbf{z}_{0} - U_{\mathbf{g}}(t-r,t-s-r)\mathbf{z}_{0}||_{\mathcal{H}_{0}} e^{C(1+M_{\mathbf{g}}(t_{0})^{6})}.$$

Finally, we can use Lemma 7.1 and (8.3) so to obtain

$$\|\mathbf{z}_0 - U_{\mathbf{g}}(t - r, t - s - r)\mathbf{z}_0\|_{\mathcal{H}_0}$$

$$\leq C\sqrt{s} \left( |\mu(t - s - r)|_2^2 + A_{t-r,t-s-r}^3 \right) A_{t-r,t-s-r}^8 e^{CA_{t-r,t-s-r}^4},$$

where the first term on the right hand side is bounded by

$$|\mu(t-r-s)|_2^2 \leqslant C_{\mathbf{g}}^2(t_0)$$

as a consequence of Corollary 5.9 and of the absorbing set considered. This together with the Hölder's inequality and (8.3) yields the uniform estimate

$$A_{t-r,t-s-r} \leqslant C(1 + M_{g}(t_0))$$

for all  $t \leq t_0 - 1$ ,  $0 \leq s \leq 1$  and  $\tau_0 \leq r \leq 2\tau_0$ . We thus obtain

$$\|\mathbf{z}_0 - U_{\mathbf{g}}(t-r, t-s-r)\mathbf{z}_0\|_{\mathcal{H}_0} \leqslant C\sqrt{s},$$

which, replaced in the above inequalities, gives

$$\begin{aligned} & \|U_{\mathbf{g}}(t,t-r)\mathbf{z}_{0} - U_{\mathbf{g}}(t-s,t-s-r)\mathbf{z}_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}} \\ \leqslant & C\|U_{\mathbf{g}}(t,t-r)\mathbf{z}_{0} - U_{\mathbf{g}}(t-s,t-s-r)\mathbf{z}_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}_{0}}^{\frac{q-2}{2(q-1)}} \\ \leqslant & Cs^{\frac{q-2}{4(q-1)}} + C\|\mathbf{z}_{0} - U_{\mathbf{g}}(t-r,t-s-r)\mathbf{z}_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}_{0}}^{\frac{q-2}{2(q-1)}} \\ \leqslant & Cs^{\frac{q-2}{4(q-1)}}, \end{aligned}$$

for any  $\mathbf{z}_0 \in \mathcal{O}_1^{\mu}(B)$  and  $t \leqslant t_0 - 1$ ,  $0 \leqslant s \leqslant 1 = \epsilon_0$ ,  $\tau_0 \leqslant r \leqslant 2\tau_0$ , so that (H.1) holds true.

We now turn our attention to (H.3), whose proof is now straightforward and follows from interpolation, Lemmata 8.2 and 7.1: indeed, for any  $\mathbf{z}_0 \in B$ ,

$$||U_{\mathbf{g}}(t, t-r)\mathbf{z}_{0} - U_{\mathbf{g}}(t-s, t-r)\mathbf{z}_{0}||_{\mathcal{H}_{1}} \leqslant Cs^{\frac{q-2}{4(q-1)}},$$

for any  $t \leqslant t_0$ ,  $\tau_0 \leqslant r \leqslant 2\tau_0$ ,  $0 \leqslant s \leqslant 1 = \epsilon_0$ . This ends the proof of Theorem 2.4.

Finally, if (B.3) holds uniformly for  $t_0 \in \mathbb{R}$  (exactly as (B.2)), then it is easy to see that the above argument applies for all times to the process  $U_{\mathbf{g}}(t,\tau)$ . In particular, (H.4) follows from Lemma 6.2. This proves Corollary 2.5.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Professor M.Grasselli from the Department of Mathematics of the Politecnico di Milano for bringing to their attention this problem. Moreover, they are indebted to the referees for their suggestions, which greatly improved the manuscript clarity and effectiveness. This work has been supported by the 2012 GNAMPA project "Analisi di modelli di tipo Navier-Stokes" coordinated by the first author and financed by INdAM.

#### References

- Helmut Abels, Existence of weak solutions for a diffuse interface model for viscous, incompressible fluids with general densities, Comm. Math. Phys. 289 (2009), no. 1, 45–73. MR 2504845 (2010i:35274)
- On a diffuse interface model for two-phase flows of viscous, incompressible fluids with matched densities, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 194 (2009), no. 2, 463–506. MR 2563636 (2010k:35361)
- Stefano Bosia, Analysis of a Cahn-Hilliard-Ladyzhenskaya system with singular potential, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 397 (2013), no. 1, 307–321. MR 2968993
- 4. Stefano Bosia, Maurizio Grasselli, and Alain Miranville, On the longtime behavior of a 2d hydrodynamic model for chemically reacting binary fluid mixtures, accepted for publication in Mathematical Methods in the Applied Sciences (2013).
- Franck Boyer, Mathematical study of multi-phase flow under shear through order parameter formulation, Asymptot. Anal. 20 (1999), no. 2, 175–212. MR 1700669 (2000g:35166)
- Nonhomogeneous Cahn-Hilliard fluids, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 18 (2001), no. 2, 225–259. MR 1808030 (2002d:76032)
- 7. John W Cahn, On spinodal decomposition, Acta Metallurgica 9 (1961), no. 9, 795 801.
- 8. John W. Cahn and John E. Hilliard, Free energy of a nonuniform system. i. interfacial free energy, The Journal of Chemical Physics 28 (1958), no. 2, 258–267.
- Alexandre N. Carvalho, José A. Langa, and James C. Robinson, Attractors for infinitedimensional non-autonomous dynamical systems, Applied Mathematical Sciences, vol. 182, Springer, New York, 2013. MR 2976449
- Manuel Del Pino and Jean Dolbeault, Best constants for Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequalities and applications to nonlinear diffusions, J. Math. Pures Appl. (9) 81 (2002), no. 9, 847–875. MR 1940370 (2003h:35051)
- M. Efendiev, S. Zelik, and A. Miranville, Exponential attractors and finite-dimensional reduction for non-autonomous dynamical systems, Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A 135 (2005), no. 4, 703-730. MR 2173336 (2007a:37098)
- Messoud Efendiev, Alain Miranville, and Sergey Zelik, Exponential attractors for a nonlinear reaction-diffusion system in R<sup>3</sup>, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. 330 (2000), no. 8, 713– 718. MR 1763916 (2001c:35039)
- 13. S. Frigeri and M. Grasselli, Nonlocal Cahn–Hilliard–Navier–Stokes systems with singular potentials, arXiv preprint arXiv:1201.6303 (2012).
- Sergio Frigeri and Maurizio Grasselli, Global and Trajectory Attractors for a nonlocal Cahn– Hilliard–Navier–Stokes System, J. Dynam. Differential Equations 24 (2012), no. 4, 827–856. MR 3000606

- Ciprian G. Gal and Maurizio Grasselli, Asymptotic behavior of a Cahn-Hilliard-Navier-Stokes system in 2D, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 27 (2010), no. 1, 401–436. MR 2580516 (2011c:35447)
- 16. \_\_\_\_\_\_, Trajectory attractors for binary fluid mixtures in 3D, Chin. Ann. Math. Ser. B **31** (2010), no. 5, 655–678. MR 2726061 (2011i:35192)
- Yoshikazu Giga and Hermann Sohr, Abstract L<sup>p</sup> estimates for the Cauchy problem with applications to the Navier-Stokes equations in exterior domains, J. Funct. Anal. 102 (1991), no. 1, 72–94. MR 1138838 (92m:35114)
- Maurizio Grasselli and Dalibor Pražák, Longtime behavior of a diffuse interface model for binary fluid mixtures with shear dependent viscosity, Interfaces Free Bound. 13 (2011), no. 4, 507–530. MR 2863469 (2012k:76031)
- Morton E. Gurtin, Debra Polignone, and Jorge Viñals, Two-phase binary fluids and immiscible fluids described by an order parameter, Math. Models Methods Appl. Sci. 6 (1996), no. 6, 815–831. MR 1404829 (99e:76123)
- Martin Heida, Josef Málek, and K. R. Rajagopal, On the development and generalizations of Cahn-Hilliard equations within a thermodynamic framework, Z. Angew. Math. Phys. 63 (2012), no. 1, 145–169. MR 2878737
- P. C. Hohenberg and B. I. Halperin, Theory of dynamic critical phenomena, Rev. Mod. Phys. 49 (1977), 435–479.
- 22. José A. Langa, Alain Miranville, and José Real, *Pullback exponential attractors*, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. **26** (2010), no. 4, 1329–1357. MR 2600749 (2011d:37154)
- Alain Miranville and Sergey Zelik, Robust exponential attractors for Cahn-Hilliard type equations with singular potentials, Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 27 (2004), no. 5, 545–582. MR 2041814 (2005b:37191)
- A. Morro, Phase-field models of Cahn-Hilliard fluids and extra fluxes, Adv. Theor. Appl. Mech 3 (2010), 409–424.
- Eric D. Siggia, Late stages of spinodal decomposition in binary mixtures, Phys. Rev. A 20 (1979), 595–605.
- V.N. Starovoitov, The dynamics of a two-component fluid in the presence of capillary forces, Mathematical Notes 62 (1997), no. 2, 244–254.
- Liyun Zhao, Hao Wu, and Haiyang Huang, Convergence to equilibrium for a phase-field model for the mixture of two viscous incompressible fluids, Commun. Math. Sci. 7 (2009), no. 4, 939– 962. MR 2604626 (2011b:35427)

Politecnico di Milano, Dipartimento di Matematica "F. Brioschi", Piazza Leonardo da Vinci 32, I-20133 Milano, Italy

 $E ext{-}mail\ address: stefano.bosia@polimi.it}$ 

Università di Modena e Reggio Emilia, Dipartimento di Scienze Fisiche, Informatiche e Matematiche, Via Campi 213/B, I-41125 Modena, Italy

 $E ext{-}mail\ address: stefania.gatti@unimore.it}$